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”

On behalf of the Board of Directors I present the 
Annual Report of Western Suburbs Leagues Club 
Illawarra Ltd for the 2019-2020 financial year.

This report will be put to the members for consid-
eration and approval at the Annual General Meet-
ing on Sunday 29th November 2020, at 10am.

Well what an unexpected year we have had, no one 
would have predicted the challenges that we were 
dealt over the past 12 months, consisting of the 
fires over the summer, floods and then COVID-19. 
The old saying that when the going gets tough the 
tough get going certainly sums up the way our 
community leaders, public servants, health work-
ers and the general public have taken these chal-
lenges head on.

Certainly, this was also the case with our club’s 
CEO Danny Munk and his team, our unbelievable 
staff that faced a situation that none of us could 
imagine. The initial need to change the way we 
managed the business to implement COVID SAFE 
processes to protect our members and guests, to 
having to shut down our facilities and stand down 
all of our team with only 12 hours’ notice. Then work 
through the maze of Job Keeper and other govern-
ment initiatives aimed at protecting our people’s 
jobs while communicating the everchanging situa-
tion to our members.

I observed firsthand the stress that these challeng-
es presented to our team while being amazed at 
the professionalism, calm leadership and team-
work displayed at all levels within our organisation, 
we should be all very proud of the people we have 
looking after the Aster Group.

The result as you will see in the financial reports 
during this tumultuous period sees our organisation 
in a much better position than we first expected  
 

due to the strategic and at times difficult decisions 
implemented and of course the fact that we were 
subsidised by “Job Keeper”.

We are extremely happy with the support and re-
action from many of our members, both in the pos-
itive feedback and encouragement communicated 
during the peak of the closure of our facilities and 
continuing improved trade we are seeing which is 
progressively improving as time goes on. This re-
inforces the worth of the tireless efforts that our 
team have put into this everchanging environment 
and I know how encouraging it has been for them 
working their way through the maze.

Whilst a large part of our “Master Plan” we have 
been focusing on over the past few years has had 
to be delayed a huge effort, has been put in by our 
management team in planning, designing and im-
plementing a whole host of reshaping of the busi-
ness to ensure our survival and sustainability going 
forward.

Whilst these changes have included reduced sup-
port for some of our sporting bodies and commu-
nity groups, how they have responded has been 
very much appreciated.

At Port Kembla Golf Club, our members have seen 
considerable changes to the club facility and mode 
of operation. This included some necessary chang-
es to the fee structures to ensure the ongoing vi-
ability of golf at the club upon re-opening. The 
board is committed to ensuring PKGC can stand 
on its own financially during these uncertain times 
and into the future when the current impacts of 
the Covid-19 epidemic have passed or are impact-
ing at a lessor level.

I would like to convey thanks to the Port Kembla 
Golf Club Advisory Committee for their support 
and focus on the golfing initiatives, and look for-
ward to our Management and Board working with 
the Committee on ongoing planned course im-
provements aimed at reduction in maintenance 
costs and also an increase in golf club member-
ships.

CHAIRMAN’S 
REPORT

“We are extremely happy with 
the support and reaction 
from many of our members
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On behalf of the Board of Directors, I would like to 
thank our members and guests for your patience 
and support during the year and look forward to 
us moving back to more normality as we all beat 
this pandemic.

Again, I want to acknowledge and thank our lead-
ership team, all our staff who have at times, faced 
unprecedented business, operational and person-
al challenges during this year. As I have previous-
ly stated, they have responded professionally and 
put in a lot of effort to ensure positive outcomes 
for our group. Our sincere thanks and respect. You 
should all be very proud!

Our CEO’s report details the challenges across the 
Aster Group and the financial result in more detail.

Whilst as mentioned we had to reduce our com-
munity contribution in 2019– 2020 we still contrib-
uted $448,570. Whilst we cannot always meet the 
requested grants to all our sporting and commu-
nity bodies, the response of understanding and 
support from these groups is much appreciated 
by both our Management team and the Board of 
Directors. 

A component of this community support contin-
ues through our Corporate Community Partners 
and impacting where assistance is needed. Our 
partners include: The Disability Trust, The Flagstaff 
Group, St Vincent De Paul, Youth of the Streets and 
Lifeline. This year the impact of our donations shift-
ed focus a little to assist with some of the chang-
ing ways and needs that the impact of Covid-19 
had on our Community Partners. We also looked 
at major impacts that the pandemic was having 
on our community and introduced a new partner 
that needed support which was SAHSSI (Support-
ed Accommodation and Homelessness Services 
Shoalhaven Illawarra).  

I also would like to again commend our CEO Danny 
Munk for his participation in the “Vinnies CEO Sleep 
Out”, and the support he continues to receive from 
our staff and from within the club industry. Now 6 
years involvement by Danny, the organisation has 
raised over $145,000 to support this very worthy 
community initiative. Danny continues to show a 
great deal of energy for this cause since his first 
involvement in 2015. The passion he displays is a 
credit to him personally and the focus he had on 
looking after both our business and more impor-
tantly our staff during the pandemic.

I would also like to congratulate the sporting clubs 
that found a way to participate this year. What a 

great effort from the committee members, coach-
ing staff, and the players to keep their sports avail-
able to all. Special mention to Wests Red Devils 
juniors and seniors who overcame major challeng-
es to field team. The senior players participated in 
the Presidents NSW competition as the Illawarra 
league could not get the competition up and run-
ning. Our players participated for zero payments 
for the love of the game and their club, well done 
to all.

I would like to thank my fellow Board members for 
their contribution and diligence throughout yet an-
other extraordinarily demanding and very different 
year. 

On behalf of the Board of Directors, I extend our 
thanks to Our CEO Danny Munk who is entering his 
seventh year with the organisation and I would like 
to again commend him for his leadership through a 
year that I am sure he will not only not like to expe-
rience again but never the less never forget. We are 
very fortunate to have a Leader and Executive team 
full of high calibre committed individuals.

The staff at each of the sites in spite of their own 
personal challenges this year, continue to have a 
huge impact on the success and reputation of the 
Aster Group in terms of service, and as venues of 
choice for our members and guests. 

To our members and affiliated sporting bodies, 
thank you for your ongoing support and I assure 
you that as our club’s growth and success contin-
ues, so too will the support the club can put back 
into our community.

Finally, I wish all members, guests, and staff a very 
enjoyable festive season and a prosperous new year.

Kind regards,

 

TREVOR CASTLE 
CHAIRMAN
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2019/2020 a year that has been non-stop.

To say that the 12 months of this report was one 
event after another is an understatement. A lot has 
happened at Wests Illawarra and Port Kembla Golf 
Club (PKGC) during the 2019/2020 year. 

The 1st quarter saw the impact of the new Artisan 
area at Wests Illawarra, which opened in June 2019. 
Visitation numbers were up, revenue in our food 
and beverage areas was at its best in the past 5 
years. Events and functions were also positive, es-
pecially the impact they were having at PKGC. We 
were seeing overall improvements at PKGC, with 
the losses showing signs of reduction. We were ex-
pecting a very positive year at Wests Illawarra and 
PKGC, with a lot of potential going forward.

In the latter part of the 1st quarter, the impacts of 
the drought on the East Coast of Australia was 
starting to be felt. We were seeing this in the cost 
of many food items, especially lamb and beef. All 
the work we had done on water storage and the 
irrigation systems at PKGC in the previous years 
was proving a huge asset in these conditions. Go-
ing into the 2nd quarter of the year was the com-
mencement of the bushfires on the North Coast, 
during this period the bushfires also commenced 
on the South Coast. So many people and business-
es were affected, lives lost, homes lost. It caused a 
huge economic impact.

This year has also seen the commencement of a 
new partnership with Mission Australia offering 
“Need to Talk” opportunities which a free support 
service for our Members. The timing of this service 
couldn’t have started at a better time.

Though we were trading fairly well at the time, 
the drought and fires were in everyone’s thoughts. 
Many in the club industry were fundraising to aid 
drought affected farmers, clubs our size were help-
ing country and coastal clubs. January was very 
different this year, we found many people did not 
travel to their normal holiday regions, so we saw 
far more traffic in the venue than normal. Then the 
rains came. Unfortunately, in some parts of our 

coastal regions too much rain. People who had 
been impacted by drought, then fire, were now 
dealing with floods.

We had already decided by that point to put a 
number of our larger projects on hold, until we saw 
more of the year unfold. During the later part of 
December and into January, media stories were 
circulating that a new strain of virus was impact-
ing areas of China, it was being referred to as the 
“Covid-19 Virus”. By late January, the concerns were 
growing, and areas within China were being locked 
down. We started to see limitations in international 
flights and the beginning of things to come. By the 
end of February, it was all that occupied the media. 

Hospitality venues such as ours had social dis-
tancing measures being imposed, we were having 
cleaning and sanitising processes improved and 
enacted. More and more cases of Covid-19 were 
being reported globally and here in Australia. By 
this stage flights into Australia were being restrict-
ed. Covid-19 was now well and truly impacting all 
of our lives. The real impact was still to come how-
ever. The stories of the impact of the virus and how 
it spread was seriously hurting club visitations and 
club revenue especially in food and beverage. We 
were seeing drops of 40% in revenue at these early 
stages.

Late on Sunday the 22nd March 2020, Prime Min-
ister Scott Morrison announced that all hospitali-
ty and event venues would be shut from midday 
23rd March 2020. I cannot describe the emotions 
at that time, especially as we were given the under-
standing that this could be for an undefined peri-
od. At that stage we were possibly looking at 6 to 
12 months.

The staff hit the ground running, the People and 
Culture team, led by Alisha Musker with Rebecca 
Harrison, came on site that Sunday and worked 
through the night so all the staff would have sup-

CEO’S 
REPORT

“The staff hit the  
ground running
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port and the information they would need to han-
dle the coming journey. The team organised an 
all staff meeting the next day, where we informed 
everyone what was to occur and how we would 
communicate moving forward. At that point I also 
informed all staff that due to the shutdown, every-
one including myself was stood down. Not some-
thing I ever wish to have to do again. How did the 
staff handle that? Just amazingly, considering how 
this was impacting everyone. Many of the staff pro-
vided comfort to the Management and Directors 
who were on site as they could see the stress that 
we were all going through.

The catering team, led by Yianni Barthelmess and 
Head Chef Ben Couvee, had to shut our food and 
beverage outlets, stock had to be moved, food that 
could be stored was and what we could was donat-
ed to local community groups for people in need. 
The operations/facilities team, led by Matt Dem-
os, had to implement security strategies, because 
Wests Illawarra is very much a 24-hour occupied 
venue, much had to be changed to meet the needs 
during lock down. At PKGC, the team not only had 
to lock the course down but implement processes 
to maintain the course during lock down. The mar-
keting team, led by Stacey Corbeski, put communi-
cation packages together for the membership and 
staff, regular and accurate information at this time 
was vital. The finance team, led by Renata Garnero, 
liaised with suppliers and the bank, and arranged 
for all cash to be removed from the site. The gam-
ing team, led by Dominic Monti, secured the gam-
ing installation for lock down. This was all done in 
the first 48 hours.

Trevor Castle and the Board were very active in 
communication and support of Management, 
throughout the whole process. A full Board meet-
ing was called in the first week of the lock down. 
With the information we had at hand, and the 
data on our finances at the time, the message 
to the Board was that we knew it was going 
to be tough but doable. To lessen the pres-
sure on our staff the Board approved two 
weeks of pay for the staff, giving them 
comfort that they had some support 
until the government brought in 
their support packages. The Fed-
eral Government later brought 
in JobKeeper, which covered 
a large portion of our staff, 
and the State Government was 
also bringing in other supportive 
measures.

The first two weeks was very surreal, no members 
and limited staff on site, whilst we continued to 
organise for a long shutdown. PKGC stayed shut, 
even though other golf venues opened. The Board 
and Management felt that until we had clarity of 
process on how the course would operate, it was 
safer for all staff and members that we remained 
closed. Many members understood this, not all, but 
most.

During the later part of April, we decided to re-
open PKGC, under strict conditions, without the 
licensed club. Because Wests Illawarra was shut 
and no revenue was being generated, we had to 
change how the course operated so that PKGC 
ran in a financially positive manner. The course re-
opened as a cashless venue, this has been wide-
ly accepted by all players and will stay in place in 
the future. The PKGC staff have done an amazing 
job, under the guidance of Matt Demos with the 
support of Katy Jarochowicz, Golf Shop Co-ordi-
nator and Greg Claydon, Head Green Keeper. The 
course looks great, plays well and their efforts have 
allowed many people to play on nearly every day 
since, with the exception of a few rain outs. 

During April and May we started to make plans for 
the re-opening of Wests Illawarra. Guidance from 
the NSW Government was that we should target 
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July to August as the potential period to re-open, if 
Covid-19 numbers stayed low. Our opening would 
be very different, the potential return of a Covid 
wave highlighted our requirements to be vigilant 
and systematic on our entry and cleaning process-
es. The impact of the Crossroads Hotel outbreak 
highlighted how quickly things can change again. 
During this period majority of our staff were on re-
duced hours, or JobKeeper, but unfortunately some 
of our staff did not qualify. We were very fortunate 
that Flagstaff, our long-term community partner, 
offered many in our kitchen teams work during this 
period. Thank you again to Roy Rogers (CEO), and 
the team from Flagstaff for that support.

During the shutdown period, we also activated 
takeaway opportunities in the carpark at Wests 
Illawarra, which was met with a very enthusiastic 
response from the community. We had a drive thru 
bottle shop (only allowed while in lock down) and 
2 local business food trucks. Our staff instigated a 
3pm video chat amongst themselves, a way to stay 
connected as well as to have a laugh during tough 
times. Some of these video moments were price-
less, and some may never be shown again. While 
Wests Illawarra had no one within the building it 
kept us connected. The staff supported each other, 
they got behind opportunities, and they contacted 
members doing “RUOK?” chats. I am so proud of all 
our people, in adversity real quality shines through, 
and our staff stood up and moved forward. I can-
not begin to thank them enough.

In late May the NSW Government confirmed that 
clubs and hotels would open under restricted 
guidelines, suddenly we had 8 days to be ready to 
reopen on 1st June. A decision was made at this 
stage not to open the Clubhouse at PKGC but to 
keep the golf course going. We have since opened 
the Clubhouse in a very limited way, we no longer 
have gaming, wagering or Keno at the property, 
and this will remain for the foreseeable future. The 
property will have work done on it later in 2020 to 
make the Clubhouse and golf shop more unified. 

Covid-19 has literally stopped all events and func-
tions, which was a major part of PKGC’s revenue. 
At this stage we do not see functions and events 
coming back in any meaningful way until late 2021, 
or even into 2022.

In that week before re-opening a lot had to be 
done at Wests Illawarra. Our bathroom entries 
had to be made Covid-safe, our entry procedures 
updated, all areas set up with the right social dis-
tancing, food and beverage supplies restocked, 
new cleaning processes in place, new signage,  and 
cash back into the business. To control venue num-
bers, we opened to members only. The support we 
got on that first day and the following weeks was 
outstanding. To all of you who came, thank you 
so much. It was such a great response and it truly 
gave us a sense that we were on the right track. 
The building finally had energy and life back into it.

Over the coming weeks we further adapted, more 
signage, updated processes, and new food menus. 
Our kitchen team are working very hard on pro-
viding quality product in a very uncertain environ-
ment with a constant changing supply structure. 
Our food revenue has been 65% down compared 
to prior to shut down. The numbers have improved 
slightly over the last few months but have a long 
way to go. We have seen our older member market 
slowly return, we fully understand their concerns 
and are working constantly to provide a Covid-safe 
venue. Part of this is our entry process that now 
has a core temperature scanner to help us provide 
a safe venue. All members, staff and suppliers are 
monitored, this coupled with entry questions, and 
sign in of members as part of our Covid-Safe plan 
is all aimed to make our venue as safe as possible.

We are now working under social distancing rules, 
this impacts the number of people allowed into the 
venue, maximum numbers that can be seated to-
gether, events and functions that can be booked. 
The impact of the non-mingling and social distanc-
ing rule is impacting all areas of our business, we 
are bringing some parts of the business back in 
stages, bingo and a couple of smaller scale raffles 
have restarted but in a limited format. Recently we 
started again with live music, this will be expanded 
as we go forward. Our Green Room (snooker and 
darts) is still closed due to social distancing, but we 
are constantly looking at when this can change (at 
this stage possibly later this year). Events like Mel-
bourne Cup, Christmas raffles and Christmas Day 
will be different this year, keep an eye out for up-
dates to all our traditional events on social media 
or contact the club for further information. 

“I am so proud of all our 
people, in adversity real 
quality shines through

“The support we got on that 
first day and the following 
weeks was outstanding
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The shut down has forced a number of changes 
to our business, including community support. The 
next 18 months to 2 years may continue to see 
Covid-19 impacts, we will adapt, and we will learn 
to live with it. Our Covid Safe plans provide us the 
privilege of being open to serve you. The process-
es for club entry and the social distancing on the 
premises is not optional, we need to work to these 
rules to keep our doors open. A few venues in the 
Illawarra have been fined for breaching these rules. 
We do not intend to be one of these venues, we 
respect the privilege we have to be open.

Covid-19 has forced us to maintain a higher level 
of financial facilities. This has meant changing the 
pricing structure of golf at PKGC and a reduction 
of our grants to our sporting and community bod-
ies for this period. We will need to be conservative 
on grants through 2021 and possibly into 2022. The 
Board and Management will constantly review our 
support to our community and sporting groups, 
when we feel our working environment is more sta-
ble and improved, we are happy to start returning 
things to a previous norm. The understanding from 
these groups has been appreciated. Our support 
is very much at the grass roots of sport. One of 
our main sports is Rugby League, I personally wish 
to thank Mat Reh and his Board from the Wests 
Red Devils Senior Rugby League Club in their ap-
proach to what has happened this year. During the 
early stages of Covid they stated that they would 
do what was necessary to support the main club 
and adapt their spending over the next few years 
so that the financial impact on Wests Illawarra was 
minimised. That understanding that the licensed 
club and the Rugby League Club depend on each 
other is such a mark of respect to the organisation 
and says so much about the leadership of the Dev-
ils. Their support is very much appreciated.

I have thanked our staff, our Board and our mem-
bers who have helped us through this very differ-
ent period but there are others we must thank. 
From the day we shut Paul Harrison from Westpac, 
made it known we had his and the banks support. 
Knowing that the bank looked at our relationship 
as a partnership and would be with us on the jour-
ney going forward did reduce the stress quite a bit. 
Both our Federal and State Governments started 
to provide support, without these groups thinking 

about how our communities would get through 
this and move into the future, the journey would 
have been very dark for us and others. Many of 
us are critical of our political representatives and 
look for the negative in what they do, but during 
this journey I cannot speak highly enough of our 
local representatives. Paul Scully, our NSW state 
MP, made regular calls to see how our clubs and 
our people were going. He provided an ear and ad-
vice, and he has been a voice to government on 
our needs. His constant contact and willingness to 
organise contacts with the right people to talk to, 
was beyond what you could expect. In crisis you 
can judge a persons’ character, and Paul certainly 
showed the quality of his. Sharon Bird our Feder-
al MP was right there as well. When you consider 
what they had to deal with at this time of crisis, 
both Paul and Sharon found time to take and make 
calls to us. I cannot thank them enough.

So down to the numbers, how did we end up for 
the year? The Group EBITDA for 2019/2020 was 
$2.82M in comparison to $2.91M for 2018/2019. 
During this period, the Federal Government pro-
vided $930K via JobKeeper to provide support to 
our employees. (Note that the 2020 EBITDA ex-
cludes a building write-down of $323K at PKGC). 
We have had to restart our business, we constantly 
are talking about the new normal, so talking about 
where we were is less relevant than where we are 
going. The Aster Group, made up of Wests Illawar-
ra and PKGC, are here and open, we will adapt, and 
we will change. We will learn to live with Covid, 
and we will have venues that provide a safe haven 
for our members, their guests, and our staff. We 
will support our sporting bodies and our commu-
nity groups. We will look for the positive and go 
forward, and we will adapt. 2021 and 2022 will be 
years of change and adapting to our new normal. 

We will continue our commitment to investing in 
our staff: through training, well-being initiatives 
and the provision of some unique opportunities as 
part of working for the Aster Group. Our focus on 
property maintenance continues, with some small-
er projects to occur over the next 18 months. Our 
aim is to provide venues that are always maintained 
to a standard that both our staff and members are 
proud of, even in these trying times.

“Our Covid Safe plans provide 
us the privilege of being 
open to serve you

“We will continue  
our commitment to  
investing in our staff
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”I have stated previously that part of our financial 
and strategic goals is to refresh our properties on 
a 10-year cycle, this sets the organisation and our 
team of leaders a significant challenge. We have 
purposely set our depreciation rates at a level to 
reflect these goals. Our focus is to have continu-
al property and services improvement, and our 
goal is to have our EBITDA outstrip our deprecia-
tion and amortisation accounts on an annual basis. 
This year has certainly impacted this journey, but I 
see no reason to change from these goals, we just 
need to adjust and get back on track. Our strategy 
of being a business that can re-invent itself every 
10 years is still relevant, Covid-19 has sped up some 
of these goals, especially around technology.

Regardless of Covid-19, the homeless situation in 
the Illawarra cannot be ignored, so the Vinnies 
CEO Sleepout was very different this year, as all 
participants did it in isolation. Being alone in the 
dark and the cold, made the experience way to 
real. Again, the Aster Group supported me to raise 
over $15,000 in 2020 for the Sleepout. The group 
has raised over $145,000 over the last 6 years - an 
awesome achievement. I must thank the Board of 
Wests Illawarra for allowing myself and our team to 
participate and support such a worthy cause. It is a 
night that reminds me that what many of us have 
is a privilege, not a right. And it makes me aware 
that it is our responsibility to support others less 
fortunate in our community.

So, what a year, and not over by half. We will adapt, 
we will adjust, we will grow and the support we get 
from our members is outstanding. THANK YOU!

To our staff and our leadership teams, I cannot 
imagine where we would be without these amazing 
people who are the backbone of the Aster Group. 
Our people represent our values and culture and 
they are remarkable. What our teams have dealt 
with this year and still do it with a smile speaks vol-
umes about who they are. THANK YOU!

To Trevor Castle and his fellow Directors, being a 
volunteer Director in this current climate is not a 
picnic. To say that this has required many hours 
and a lot of communication is an understatement 
this year. Your support and direction have been in-
valuable. The notion that during the tough times 
you see the true characters of people again can be 
said of our Directors. THANK YOU!

I wrap this report up with best wishes to all mem-
bers and staff leading into the Christmas season. It 
may be a different Christmas to what we are used 
to, but a Christmas still. A year to be celebrated for 
getting through, the lessons learned, and the ex-
periences gained. I hope you enjoy time with fam-
ily and friends, and I hope that 2021 is safe and as 
Covid free as possible. 

I look forward to a report next year with less of the 
challenges and more on the go forward plans. Be 
well and enjoy your visits to Wests Illawarra and 
Port Kembla Golf Club. 

Kind Regards, 
 

DANIEL MUNK 
CEO

“A big thank you
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THANK YOU  
WESTS ILLAWARRA MEMBERS,  
FROM YOUR LOCAL COMMUNITY

The Trusted Garden Program

Thank you to Wests Illawarra 
members. Our grant helped us 
to grow our “Trusted Garden 

Program” supporting people with disabilities. It 
started off as a seed of an idea and with your sup-
port it has now grown into a beautiful community 
garden.

Let’s All Play

Thank you to Wests Illawarra mem-
bers for their generous contribution 
to the building of Wollongong’s first 
of its kind all-ages, all-abilities play-
ground.

The Disability Trust’s Kids Fund

Ruby has been looking forward to 
the arrival of her Hippocampe All 
Terrain Beach Wheelchair from The 
Disability Trust’s Kids Fund. Huge 
thank you to Wests Illawarra mem-

bers for supporting Kids Fund and us. This gives 
Ruby so many more opportunities to get 
out and about with her brothers. Look out  
beach, there’s no stopping her now!

 

Thank you for letting me learn Robotics

“I was always interested in robotics and now know 
more today than I did before. It was a great expe-
rience. I would do it again if given the opportunity. 
Thank You Wests Illawarra members.”  

Jordan attended Flagstaff Life Choice’s Robotics 
program for people with disability funded through 
Wests Illawarra ClubGrants.
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“The Jobs program generously supported by As-
ter Group has provided our students with the 
opportunity to engage in a series of work readi-
ness workshops and accredited training which has 
provided a platform to build skills and confidence 
to engage in work experience and employment. 
Thanks to this funding, disadvantaged young peo-
ple who attend Craig David College are provided 
with opportunities they may not have otherwise 
had access to. This program provides our students 
with vocational education and training opportuni-
ties integrated into their regular school curriculum, 
with the additional support they need to succeed. 
The Jobs program incorporates our core principles 
of individualised learning adjustments, consistent 
support, and a focus on student wellbeing.  Evi-
dence of the success of this program has been our 
students achieving nationally accredited State-
ments of Attainment and a number have now suc-
cessfully engaged in periods of work experience in 
their local community and some have gained their 
first job.”

STEVE ARMSTRONG, SCHOOL PRINCIPAL

CEO Sleepout

“Being alone in the dark and the cold, made the 
experience way too real. Again, the Aster Group 
supported me to raise over $15,000 in 2020 for the 
Sleepout. The group has raised over $145,000 over 
the last 6 years - an awesome achievement. It is a 
night that reminds me that what many of us have 
is a privilege, not a right. And it makes me aware 
that it is our responsibility to support others less 
fortunate in our community.”

ASTER GROUP CEO – DANNY MUNK
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Supported Accommodation and Homelessness 
Services Shoalhaven Illawarra (SAHSSI) is a not-for 
profit Specialist Homeless Service offering home-
lessness and domestic violence services to the Ill-
awarra and Shoalhaven regions. SAHSSI supports 
women from crisis accommodation, through se-
curing a tenancy, to establishing themselves in a 
safe and secure home. 

“SAHSSI is grateful to Wests Illawarra Members for 
their support of our clients through a ClubGrants 
donation. The donation will be used to purchase es-
sential emergency packs for our client’s new home 
– items such as dinner sets, cutlery, kettles, toast-
ers, towels, manchester, and other small home-
wares. It will also be used to purchase items for 
client’s children – school uniforms, school supplies, 
required technology and other essential items.”

KATHY COLYER, CEO SAHSSI

“Thanks to funding from Wests Illawarra we have 
been able to provide additional training to near-
ly 100 crisis support volunteers. This training sup-
ported and grew the skills of our volunteers, en-
suring they were well equipped to provide support 
to the record number of calls answered during the 
year. It also allowed us to provide suicide aware-
ness and prevention training free to 80 community 
members. Thank you to Wests Illawarra Members 
for helping make our local community safer.”

RENEE GREEN, CEO LIFELINE SOUTH COAST
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SPORTING 
GROUPS

Wests Illawarra Aquatic Swimmers Say Thank for 
your Support.

The Wests Illawarra Aquatic (WIAQ) Swim Club 
has continued to be supported by Wests Illawar-
ra members and they have used the support to 
achieve massive successes in the last 12 months.

The club has had their most successful year to 
date, sending their largest ever contingent to the 
National Long Course Swimming Championships 
and coming home with a haul of National medals 
and top 10 finishers. WIAQ finished the Nationals 
meet as the 4th highest ranked team from NSW 
and in the top 20 from over 200 clubs represent-
ed at the National Championships. Eleven squad 
members were selected to NSW representative 
squads after the National event.

The WIAQ Club continued their strong form at the 
recent NSW Country Short Course Championships 
where the massive squad dominated in the pool. 
Nearly every swimmer recorded a personal best 
time and the club took out overall third place and 
the boys squad took second in the men’s division 
whilst, Sydney Brown secured female swim of the 
meet.

The recent success of the WIAQ club is in no small 
part due to the support of the Wests Illawarra 
members who, through their ongoing financial 
support, have enabled the club to invest in the de-
velopment of their swimmers through events such 
skills development camps and the National selec-
tion presentation night held at Wests Illawarra. The 
support has enabled the club to offset some of the 
travel costs and allowed for the whole squad to 
fully participate in the opportunities offered. The 
WIAQ Club is the most successful swim club in the 
Illawarra at the present time and on behalf of all 
our swimmers, coaches and parents we say a big 
thank you to the members of Wests Illawarra for 
their ongoing generosity and support.

JAMES DAVIES, PRESIDENT 
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Even during these difficult times that 
we all have been facing, Wests Illa-
warra Leagues Club continues to pro-
vide support to keep local sporting clubs 
going. Wests Illawarra Cricket Club is lucky 
enough to receive some of that support and 
would like to thank the Club members for all 
they do. The support given by the Wests mem-
bers allows our club to develop junior and senior 
cricketers of our local area to strengthen the future 
of our sport in the Illawarra region.

MARK WALDOCK, PRESIDENT 

The members of Wests Illawarra Hockey Club 
would like to thank the members of Wests Illawar-
ra and Wests Illawarra Leagues Club for its ongo-
ing partnership in ensuring active participation of 
players of all ages, gender, and abilities in the sport 
of hockey. 

The 2020 season has been very successful with 
the club again fielding teams in all ages and 
grades in junior, women’s, and men’s competitions  

in the midst of a Covid-19 pandemic that posed 
many challenges. The highlight for the season was 
the Men’s 1st grade team winning the competition 
for the first time since 2004 with all but one of the 
players coming through the club’s juniors. Joining 
them as premiership winners were the Men’s 2nd 
grade, Men’s 4th Grade, Under 18 and Under 15 
teams. On an individual note, David Johnston was 
awarded life membership for his services to the 
club over the past 40 years.

WESLEY JOHNSON, TREASURER
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THE 2020 SEASON
REPORTS

2020……. a season like no other!! There was a period at the 
beginning of the season that it looked like the junior competition 
may not have even kicked off. Thankfully, with the efforts of the 
Junior Rugby League, participating clubs and volunteers, this was 
not the case. All of our kids got to play the sport they love.

We would like to sincerely thank all our coaches, managers, medical 
staff and water runners that gave up their time; week in and week 
out; to give our Junior Devils every opportunity to play the game 
that they enjoy so much. With the added pressure of COVID rules 
and guidelines, game day set up was bigger than it has ever been. 
Thank you to the parents who adapted to this new way of sport 
and followed the guidelines that were put in place to ensure that 
we were acting in the safest manner possible. Thank you also to the 
teams and players that helped to pack up fields and put gear away 
at the end of each day.

A special mention must go to the people in town. It is often a 
thankless job and if it were not for their perseverance, consultation 
and willingness to make changes, the junior competition may not 
have gone ahead. So, to the red army in town……Thank You!

To our major sponsors, TLE, Wests Illawarra and the Aster Group, 
thank you for your continued support this year. We look forward to 
continuing our partnerships in 2021.

In the senior league, a massive congratulations must go to Justin 
King and the Under 18s, as well as Jason Sullivan and the Women’s 
League Tag – both victors in a shortened senior finals series.

With no junior final series being played this year, I would like to 
congratulate all our teams who have competed fairly, shown up to 
training and got in and had a go each week. We are super proud of 
you all! A special mention, once again, must go to our coaches and 
their training staff for all your time and effort, our kids would not 
be where they are without you!

Enjoy the summer sports, stay fit and healthy and we look forward 
to seeing you all back in the mighty red and blue in 2021. 

Merry Christmas and a Happy New Year to all our families and 
supporters. 

Up the Devils!

Sam Baldock - Secretary

Season 2020 was definitely unique to any other year our club 
has faced. 

From Leagues Club closures to changes in the competition 
structure, plenty of curve balls were thrown at the club, 
coaches, and players this year. 

With so much uncertainty and the early cancellation/change of 
rounds it was extremely pleasing to see the club and players 
unite to field teams in multiple grades and competitions. 

First Grade entered the NSW Presidents Cup competition and 
achieved some outstanding results, just missing out on the 
semi-finals. 

For an unpaid side running on volunteer resources, the squad 
commitment to not only playing and travelling major distances 
to play, but competing against resourced and semi-professional 
opposition, showed a level of commitment and ability above 
and beyond. 

A number of players made their First-Grade debuts, including 
several players from our Under 18’s team in Phoenix Vetenibua-
Finnerty, Alex Lobb, Braith Lawrence-Foye and Junior Amone. 
Other making their debut were Callum Waldock, Jalal Bazzaz 
and Cleverland McGhie all players that have come through the 
Devils Junior Club.

Milestones also for Kyle Lodge and Daniel “Chief” Zohar playing 
their 50th First grade games for the club.

Our Opens team competed all year with injuries across grades 
and depth taking their toll in an interrupted season and our 
second division again performing consistently, finishing minor 
premiers but falling in the Grand Final. A huge congratulations 
to our Ladies Blues tag team and Under 18s who both took out 
premiership titles for 2020.

In a disrupted year the Club would like to take this opportunity 
to thank our trainers, coaches and volunteers, as well as our 
players and supporters in putting teams on the field all year, 
on many times at multiples venues and days across a weekend.

It’s hard to remember a time where the logistics of putting 
teams and games on were harder and budget lower. It leaves 
us extremely proud of what we accomplished as a club and 
playing group.

A huge congratulations to all involved.

Finally thank you to our sponsors who supported us even in 
uncertain times for themselves and particularly to our major 
sponsor, Wests Illawarra Leagues Club for their support at a 
time especially difficult for their industry.

Drew Fern - Secretary
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Western Suburbs Leagues Club Illawarra Ltd 

Directors’ report 
For the year ended 30 June 2020 

 
The directors present their report together with the financial statements of Western Suburbs Leagues 
Club Illawarra Ltd (the Company) for the financial year ended 30 June 2020 and the auditor’s report 
thereon.  
 
Information on directors 

 
The names of each person who has been a director during the year and to the date of this report are: 

 
Mr Trevor Castle Retired General Manager Operations. Chairman of the Board of Directors 

since 28 October 2001. Director of Western Suburbs Leagues Club 
Illawarra Ltd since 1999. Member of Western Suburbs Rugby League 
Football Club since 1996. Member of Western Suburbs Leagues Club 
Illawarra Limited since 1988. 

 
Mr Richard Humble Retired Supervisor. Vice Chairman of the Board of Directors Life Member. 

Life Member of Western Suburbs Leagues Club Illawarra Ltd since 1 
March 1969. Life Member and current President of the Red Devils 
Amateur Fishing Club (of 28 years). Member of Disciplinary Committee. 
Director of Western Suburbs Leagues Club Illawarra Ltd since 1998.  

 
Mr John Dorahy GAICD Director of Western Suburbs Rugby League Football Club since 2001 

and Treasurer since 2011. Employed as Sales Director Australia NZ for 
Crane Payment Innovations 2002-present. A Councillor on Wollongong 
City Council since 2011 sitting as Deputy Lord Mayor for 3 years. Held 
the following directorship: Leagues Clubs Australia organisation 2001-
2016; VenuesNSW 2012-2016 

  
Mr Russell Hayes Builder (self-employed). Member of Western Suburbs Leagues Club 

Illawarra since 1987. Member of Western Suburbs Rugby League 
Football Club since 1996. Licensee for Western Suburbs Rugby League 
Football Club since 2002. Director of Western Suburbs Leagues Club 
Illawarra since 2001. 

 
Mr Mathew Reh Mine Services Superintendent. Member of Western Suburbs Leagues 

Club Illawarra Ltd since 1993. Director of Western Suburbs Leagues Club 
Illawarra Ltd since October 2003. Member of Western Suburbs Rugby 
League Football Club since 1994. President and member of Western 
Suburbs Rugby League Football Club since 2003. Commenced playing in 
Wests Junior competition in 1984 through to 1993. Played 120 first grade 
games for Western Suburbs Rugby League Football Club and held the 
position of First Grade Captain for four years. 
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Western Suburbs Leagues Club Illawarra Ltd 

Directors’ report 
For the year ended 30 June 2020 

 
Mr Marco Boncompagni Retired. Member of Western Suburbs Leagues Club Illawarra Ltd since 

1995. Director of Western Suburbs Leagues Club Illawarra Ltd since 
October 2009. Member of Western Suburbs Junior Rugby League 
Football Club since 1992. President of Western Suburbs Junior Rugby 
League Football Club 1999 to 2008 & 2012 to 2013. Life Member of 
Western Suburbs Junior Rugby League Football Club since 2006. 
Member of Western Suburbs Rugby League Football Club since 1999 
as Junior League Delegate to the Senior League. Wests Illawarra Cricket 
Club delegate to Cricket Illawarra. 

 
Mr Greg Baldock Manager and Mechanical Engineer working for BlueScope from 1992 to 

present. Member of Western Suburbs Leagues Club Illawarra since 1992. 
Member of Western Suburbs Rugby League Football Club for over 15 
years. Former player and Clubman of the Year. Current member of the 
Western Suburbs Rugby League Football Club Committee and junior team 
coach. Retired as a Director of Western Suburbs Leagues Club Illawarra 
Ltd on 3 November 2019. 

 
Mr Mark Thomsen Company Director. Retired from Westpac Banking Corporation in 2010, 

last 15 years in senior leadership roles in Business and Corporate 
Banking. Member of Port Kembla Golf Club Ltd since 1998, Director from 
2007 till amalgamation. Director of Western Suburbs Leagues Club 
Illawarra Ltd since  December 2015. Completed Clubs NSW Mandatory 
Director Training (Finance for Club Boards and Director 
Foundation/Management Collaboration) in 2013. 

 
Mr Stuart Duncan  Retired Information Technology and Business Consultant (self employed 

for 33 years). Director of Western Suburbs Rugby League Football Club 
since October 2017. Long standing member of Wests Illawarra Snooker 
Club having represented our club both nationally and internationally for 
over 30 years. Previous board member for Port Kembla Golf Club (before 
and during amalgamation) and remains an active Port Kembla Golf Club 
member and golfer. 

 
Mr Andrew Ferns  Regional Director - Wollongong South Coast and Southern Highlands, 

Aon Risk Services; 20 years in the insurance broking and risk 
management industry. Joined Western Suburbs Rugby League Club in 
2008 playing 10 seasons; Current Coach of Under 7s Juniors and Co-
Coach of 2nd Division Seniors teams; Football Club Secretary since 2018; 
Player representative at Judiciary; Board Member since 2019.  

 

 

Directors have been in office since the start of the financial year to the date of this report unless 
otherwise stated. 
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Western Suburbs Leagues Club Illawarra Ltd 

Directors’ report 
For the year ended 30 June 2020 

 
Directors’ meetings 

The number of directors’ meetings and number of meetings attended by each of the directors of the 
Company during the financial year were: 

 

Director Number of meetings 
attended 

Meetings eligible to 
attend 

Trevor Castle – Chairman 11 14 
Richard Humble 13 14 
John Dorahy 11 14 
Marco Boncompagni 13 14 
Russell Hayes 14 14 
Mathew Reh 12 14 
Greg Baldock  4  4 
Mark Thomsen 13 14 
Stuart Duncan  14 14 
Andrew Ferns  8 11 

 
 
 

Principal activities 

The principal activity of the Company during the course of the financial year was the operation of 
registered clubs. There were no significant changes in the nature of the activities of the Company 
during the year. 

Short and long term objectives 

The Company's primary objectives are: 

- To foster, develop, promote and encourage Rugby League and other sports, and to provide good 
fellowship and the social well being of its members and the Illawarra community; and 

- To achieve ongoing future financial viability for the Club as a corporate entity whilst adhering to 
its core values and objects to the maximum extent possible. 

Performance  measures 

The following measures are used within the Company to monitor performance: 
- the quality of the service and facilities provided to members; 
- the ability to generate strong cash flows from its operating activities; 
- the trading and overall financial result; 
- the stability of the balance sheet with respect to the Company’s liquidity and the total levels of debt; 
- the review of financial performance against relevant industry data; 
- the assessment of various governance and compliance aspects of the business; 
- the level of funding and in-kind support granted to sporting and community groups; 
- the evaluation of organisational culture initiatives; and 
- the ability to create long term value and improvement for Wests by enhancing our products, 

services, offerings and operation. 
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Western Suburbs Leagues Club Illawarra Ltd 

Directors’ report 
For the year ended 30 June 2020 

 

Review of operations  

The loss of the Company for the financial year amounted to $1,470,376 (2019: loss of $600,207). 2020 
has been an unprecedented year. Domestically, we have dealt with drought, fire and flood, and then 
the worldwide pandemic of Covid-19. The financial impact of these  events has indeed been felt across 
this business. The Wests Illawarra site endured a forced shut down period of 10 weeks over March-
May 2020, during which no revenue was earned. Government support in the form of the Jobkeeper 
subsidy was received during the latter part of the year, as well as payment relief through deferral 
arrangements on taxes. This allowed the business to maintain its cashflow. Please refer to the CEO 
and Chairmans’ Reports for further information regarding the impact of Covid-19. Also note that the 
2020 loss includes an impairment write-down on the buildings at the Port Kembla Golf Club site. This 
$323,849 impairment is as a result of the company triennial valuation cycle on land and buildings. With 
the on-going challenges to be faced, the company remains committed to supporting  community, 
sporting and charitable organisations, as well as providing members and their guests, quality 
entertainment and facilities. 

 

Members guarantee  

Western Suburbs Leagues Club Illawarra Ltd is a company limited by guarantee. In the event of, and 
for the purpose of winding up of the Company, the amount capable of being called up from each 
member and any person or association who ceased to be a member in the year prior to the winding 
up, is limited to $2, subject to the provisions of the Company's constitution. At 30 June 2020 the 
collective liability of members was $43,978 (2019: $46,646). 

 
Non-audit services 

The Board of Directors, is satisfied that the provision of non-audit services during the year is compatible 
with the general standard of independence for auditors imposed by the Corporations Act 2001. The 
Directors are satisfied that these services did not compromise the external auditor’s independence for 
the following reasons: 
- all non-audit services are reviewed and approved by the Board and management prior to 

commencement to ensure they do not adversely affect the integrity and objectivity of the auditor; 
and 

- the nature of services provided does not compromise the general principles relating to auditor 
independence in accordance with APES 110: Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants set by 
the Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board. 

 

Indemnification and insurance of officers and auditors 

      Indemnification 

Since the end of the previous financial year, the Company has not indemnified or made a relevant 
agreement for indemnifying against a liability any person who is or has been an officer or auditor of the 
Company. 
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Western Suburbs Leagues Club Illawarra Ltd 

Directors’ report 
For the year ended 30 June 2020 

 
      Insurance premiums 

During the financial year the Company has paid premiums in respect of directors’ and officers’ liability 
and legal expenses insurance contracts for the year ended 30 June 2020. Such insurance contracts 
insure against certain liability (subject to specific exclusions) persons who are or have been directors or 
executive officers of the Company. 

The directors have not included details of the nature of the liabilities covered or the amount of the 
premiums paid in respect of the directors’ and officers’ liability  and legal expenses insurance contracts, 
as such disclosure is prohibited under the terms of the contract.  
 

Lead auditor’s independence declaration 

The Lead auditor’s independence declaration in accordance with section 307C of the Corporations Act 
2001,  is set out on page 30 and forms part of the directors’ report for the financial year ended 30 June 
2020. 
 

This report is signed in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors: 

 
 
 

Trevor Castle 

Chairman 

 
 

Dated at …...................……… Wollongong this 30th day of September 2020

47
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Statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income 
For the year ended 30 June 2020 
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 Note   2020 

$ 
 2019 

$ 
 

Sales revenue 5   18,661,138  21,763,895 
Other revenue 5   3,165,582  2,514,442 
Other income 5   6,770  810,880 
Bar – cost of sales    (691,209)  (748,689) 
Bar – direct expenses    (679,815)  (789,473) 
Gaming expenses    (7,868,997)  (9,381,159) 
Catering – cost of sales    (784,495)  (795,975) 
Catering – direct expenses    (1,988,778)  (2,002,964) 
Operations expenses    (2,952,526)  (3,629,270) 
Facility expenses    (1,628,862)  (1,858,365) 
Human resources expenses    (1,411,685)  (878,370) 
Marketing expenses    (1,509,714)  (1,915,985) 
Administration expenses    (1,782,017)  (1,791,549) 
Function expenses    (440,912)  (539,191) 
Operating expenses – golf course operations   (1,241,007)  (1,358,434) 
Impairment provision   (323,849)  - 
       
Operating (loss)/ profit before income tax    (1,470,376)  (600,207) 
       
Income tax benefit/(expense)  7   -  - 
       
(Loss)/ Profit for the year     (1,470,376)  (600,207) 
       
Other comprehensive income    -  - 
       
Total comprehensive income for the year    (1,470,376)  (600,207) 
       

 

The statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive income are to be read in conjunction with the notes 
to the financial statements set out on pages 12 to 28. 
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(Loss)/ Profit for the year     (1,470,376)  (600,207) 
       
Other comprehensive income    -  - 
       
Total comprehensive income for the year    (1,470,376)  (600,207) 
       

 

The statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive income are to be read in conjunction with the notes 
to the financial statements set out on pages 12 to 28. 

  

29 to 45.
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             2020  2019 
 Note   

         $ 
  

$ 
      
Assets      
Cash and cash equivalents  9   1,578,348  1,483,750 
Trade and other receivables  10  348,637  81,493 
Inventories  11  175,886  188,400 
Other assets  12  335,401  301,023 
Total current assets   2,438,272  2,054,666 
      
Intangible assets  13  1,725,227  1,725,227 
Property, plant and equipment  14  31,081,279  34,264,701 
Total non-current assets   32,806,506  35,989,928 

      
Total assets   35,244,778  38,044,594 
      
Liabilities      
Trade and other payables 15  3,746,729  2,429,674 
Borrowings 16  1,017,133  1,433,019 
Employee benefits  17  1,034,243  912,644 
Total current liabilities   5,798,105  4,775,337 
      
Borrowings 16  840,189  3,198,253 
Employee benefits 17  243,335  237,479 
Total non-current liabilities   1,083,524  3,435,732 
      
Total liabilities   6,881,629  8,211,069 
      
Net assets   28,363,149  29,833,525 
      
Members’ funds      
Retained earnings   28,363,149  29,833,525 
Total equity   28,363,149  29,833,525 

 

 

The statements of financial position are to be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements 
set out on pages 12 to 28. 29 to 45.

2726 FINANCIAL REPORT   |   ANNUAL REPORT 2019-2020 ANNUAL REPORT 2019-2020   |   FINANCIAL REPORT



Western Suburbs Leagues Club Illawarra Ltd 

Statement of changes in equity  
For the year ended 30 June 2020 

 

10  

      

 Note  Retained 
earnings 

 Total 

   $       $         
      

Opening balance at 1 July 2019   30,433,732  30,433,732 
Total comprehensive income for the year      
Loss for the year   (600,207)  (600,207) 
Total comprehensive income for the year    (600,207)  (600,207) 
 
Closing balance at 30 June 2019 

   
29,833,525 

  
29,833,525 

      
Opening balance at 1 July 2019   29,833,525  29,833,525 
Total comprehensive income for the year      
Loss for the year   (1,470,376)  (1,470,376) 
Total comprehensive income for the year   (1,470,376)  (1,470,376) 
Closing balance at 30 June 2020   28,363,149  28,363,149 

      
       

 

The statements of changes in equity are to be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements set 
out on pages 12 to 28. 
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 Note  Retained 
earnings 

 Total 

   $       $         
      

Opening balance at 1 July 2019   30,433,732  30,433,732 
Total comprehensive income for the year      
Loss for the year   (600,207)  (600,207) 
Total comprehensive income for the year    (600,207)  (600,207) 
 
Closing balance at 30 June 2019 

   
29,833,525 

  
29,833,525 

      
Opening balance at 1 July 2019   29,833,525  29,833,525 
Total comprehensive income for the year      
Loss for the year   (1,470,376)  (1,470,376) 
Total comprehensive income for the year   (1,470,376)  (1,470,376) 
Closing balance at 30 June 2020   28,363,149  28,363,149 

      
       

 

The statements of changes in equity are to be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements set 
out on pages 12 to 28. 29 to 45.
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 Note  2020 
 
$ 

 2019 
 
$ 

Cash flows from operating activities       
Receipts from customers  23,521,843  26,622,981  
Payments to suppliers and employees (19,548,875)  (23,636,609)  
Interest received   671  905  
Interest paid  (131,384)  (120,146)  
Net cash from/(used in) operating activities  3,842,255  2,867,131  
      
Cash flows from investing activities    
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 41,097  844,791  
Payment for property, plant and equipment (617,713)  (4,385,899)  
Proceeds from sale of intangible assets -   1,040,000  
Net cash from/(used in) investing activities (576,616)  (2,501,108)  
      
Cash flows from financing activities    
Proceeds from borrowings -  1,715,427  
Payment of finance lease liabilities (1,775,137)  (1,628,467)  
Repayment of borrowings and facilities (1,395,904)  -  
Net cash from/(used in) financing activities (3,171,041)  86,960  
      
Net increase/(decrease) in cash held  94,598  452,983  
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 July  1,483,750  1,030,767  
 
Cash and cash equivalents at 30 June 

 
9 

 
1,578,348 

  
1,483,750 

 

       
      

Non-cash Transactions: 
 
Purchase of property, plant and equipment 
through finance lease 

  
 

397,091 

 
 
 
 

 
 

1,392,232      
 

 

      
 

 

The statements of cash flows are to be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements set out on 
pages 12 to 28.  
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 Note  2020 
 
$ 

 2019 
 
$ 

Cash flows from operating activities       
Receipts from customers  23,521,843  26,622,981  
Payments to suppliers and employees (19,548,875)  (23,636,609)  
Interest received   671  905  
Interest paid  (131,384)  (120,146)  
Net cash from/(used in) operating activities  3,842,255  2,867,131  
      
Cash flows from investing activities    
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 41,097  844,791  
Payment for property, plant and equipment (617,713)  (4,385,899)  
Proceeds from sale of intangible assets -   1,040,000  
Net cash from/(used in) investing activities (576,616)  (2,501,108)  
      
Cash flows from financing activities    
Proceeds from borrowings -  1,715,427  
Payment of finance lease liabilities (1,775,137)  (1,628,467)  
Repayment of borrowings and facilities (1,395,904)  -  
Net cash from/(used in) financing activities (3,171,041)  86,960  
      
Net increase/(decrease) in cash held  94,598  452,983  
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 July  1,483,750  1,030,767  
 
Cash and cash equivalents at 30 June 

 
9 

 
1,578,348 

  
1,483,750 

 

       
      

Non-cash Transactions: 
 
Purchase of property, plant and equipment 
through finance lease 

  
 

397,091 

 
 
 
 

 
 

1,392,232      
 

 

      
 

 

The statements of cash flows are to be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements set out on 
pages 12 to 28.  29 to 45.
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1 Reporting entity 

The financial statements cover Western Suburbs Leagues Club Illawarra Ltd (the “Company”) and are 
as at and for the year ended 30 June 2020. Western Suburbs Leagues Club Illawarra Ltd is a not-for-
profit company limited by guarantee, incorporated and domiciled in Australia. 

The primary objective of the Company is the provision of services for members. 

2 Basis of preparation  

(a) Basis of accounting 

The financial statements are Tier 2 general purpose financial statements that have been prepared in 
accordance with Australian Accounting Standards – Reduced Disclosure Requirements adopted by the 
Australian Accounting Standards Board and the Corporations Act 2001. 

This is the first set of the Company’s annual financial statements in which the following new 
accounting standards have been applied: 

a. b. AASB 16 Leases 

b. AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers 

c. AASB 1058 Income of not-for-profit entities 

Changes to significant accounting policies are described in Note 2 (e). 

They were authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 30th September 2020. 

 (b) Basis of measurement 

The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis unless stated otherwise.  

(c) Functional and presentation currency 

These financial statements are presented in Australian dollars, which is the Company’s functional 
currency. 

(d) Use of estimates and judgements 

In preparing the financial statements, management has made judgements, estimates and 
assumptions that affect the application of the Company’s accounting policies and the reported 
amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. Actual results may differ from these estimates. 

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting 
estimates are recognised prospectively. 

Information about judgements made in applying accounting policies that have the most significant 
effects on the amounts recognised in the financial statements are described below: 

Key estimates - impairment of property, plant and equipment 

The Company assesses impairment at the end of each reporting period by evaluating conditions 
specific to the Company that may be indicative of impairment triggers. Recoverable amounts of 
relevant assets are reassessed using value-in-use calculations which incorporate various key 
assumptions. 
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2 Basis of preparation (continued) 

(d) Use of estimates and judgements (continued) 

Key estimates - employee benefits provision 

Assumptions are required for wage growth and CPI movements. The likelihood of employees reaching 
unconditional service is estimated. The timing of when employee benefit obligations are to be settled 
is also estimated.  

Key estimates - useful lives of assets 

The company determines the estimated useful lives and related depreciation and amortisation charges 
for its property, plant and equipment and intangible assets. The depreciation and amortisation charge 
will increase where useful lives are less than previously estimated lives. 

Key judgments - taxes 

Determining income tax provisions involves judgment on the tax treatment of certain transactions. 
Deferred tax is recognised on tax losses not yet used and on temporary differences where it is 
probable that there will be taxable revenue against which these can be offset. Management has made 
judgments as to the probability of future taxable revenues being generated against which tax losses 
will be available for offset based on budgets, current and future expected economic conditions (refer 
note 7 and 8). 

Key judgments - valuation inputs 

In assessing the carrying values of the Company's main property assets to ensure that they do not 
exceed their recoverable amount, fair value is estimated based on appraisals performed by an 
independent, professionally-qualified property valuer. The significant inputs and assumptions are 
developed in close consultation with management and the valuation processes and impairment 
provision value changes are reviewed by the Board of Directors at each reporting date. 

The recoverable amounts of property assets were determined based on value-in-use calculations, 
which included the option of applying depreciated replacement cost given that the Company is a not-
for-profit. This incorporated the calculation of the remaining useful lives of relevant assets as a going 
concern, as determined by the independent valuer and verified by management. 

(e) Changes in accounting policies  

With the exception of the below, the Company has consistently applied the following accounting 
policies to all periods presented in these financial statements. 

AASB 16 Leases 

The Company initially applied AASB 16 Leases from 1 July 2019.  

The Company applied AASB 16 using the modified retrospective approach, under which the 
cumulative effect of initial application is recognised in retained earnings at 1 July 2019. Accordingly, 
the comparative information presented for the year ended 30 June 2019 is not restated. 

The Company has concluded that there is no impact on its financial statements resulting from 
application of AASB 16. 
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2 Basis of preparation (continued) 

(d) Use of estimates and judgements (continued) 

Key estimates - employee benefits provision 

Assumptions are required for wage growth and CPI movements. The likelihood of employees reaching 
unconditional service is estimated. The timing of when employee benefit obligations are to be settled 
is also estimated.  

Key estimates - useful lives of assets 

The company determines the estimated useful lives and related depreciation and amortisation charges 
for its property, plant and equipment and intangible assets. The depreciation and amortisation charge 
will increase where useful lives are less than previously estimated lives. 

Key judgments - taxes 

Determining income tax provisions involves judgment on the tax treatment of certain transactions. 
Deferred tax is recognised on tax losses not yet used and on temporary differences where it is 
probable that there will be taxable revenue against which these can be offset. Management has made 
judgments as to the probability of future taxable revenues being generated against which tax losses 
will be available for offset based on budgets, current and future expected economic conditions (refer 
note 7 and 8). 

Key judgments - valuation inputs 

In assessing the carrying values of the Company's main property assets to ensure that they do not 
exceed their recoverable amount, fair value is estimated based on appraisals performed by an 
independent, professionally-qualified property valuer. The significant inputs and assumptions are 
developed in close consultation with management and the valuation processes and impairment 
provision value changes are reviewed by the Board of Directors at each reporting date. 

The recoverable amounts of property assets were determined based on value-in-use calculations, 
which included the option of applying depreciated replacement cost given that the Company is a not-
for-profit. This incorporated the calculation of the remaining useful lives of relevant assets as a going 
concern, as determined by the independent valuer and verified by management. 

(e) Changes in accounting policies  

With the exception of the below, the Company has consistently applied the following accounting 
policies to all periods presented in these financial statements. 

AASB 16 Leases 

The Company initially applied AASB 16 Leases from 1 July 2019.  

The Company applied AASB 16 using the modified retrospective approach, under which the 
cumulative effect of initial application is recognised in retained earnings at 1 July 2019. Accordingly, 
the comparative information presented for the year ended 30 June 2019 is not restated. 

The Company has concluded that there is no impact on its financial statements resulting from 
application of AASB 16. 
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(e) Changes in accounting policies (continued)  

AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers 

The Company has initially applied AASB 15 from 1 July 2019.  AASB 15 establishes a 
comprehensive framework for determining whether, how much and when revenue is recognised. It 
replaces AASB 118 Revenue, AASB 111 Construction Contracts and related interpretations. Under 
AASB 15, revenue is recognised when a customer obtains control of the goods or services. 
Determining the timing of the transfer of control – at a point in time or over time – requires 
judgement. 

This is the first period for which financial statements have been prepared. The impact of AASB 15 
on comparative information is not required. 

AASB 15 did not have a significant impact on the Company’s accounting policies with respect to 
revenue streams. 

AASB 1058 Income of not-for-profit entities 

The Company has initially applied AASB 1058 from 1 July 2019. 

AASB 1058 clarifies and simplifies the income recognition requirements that apply to not-for-profit 
entities, in conjunction with AASB 15. The requirements of AASB 1058 more closely reflect the 
economic reality of not-for-profit entity transactions that are not contracts with customers. The 
timing of income recognition depends on whether such a transaction give rise to a liability or other 
performance obligation.  

AASB 1058 did not have a significant impact on the Company’s accounting policies with respect to 
revenue streams. 

 
3 Significant accounting policies 

The Company has consistently applied the following accounting policies to all periods presented in the 
financial statements, except if mentioned otherwise (see also Note 2 (e)). 

 (a) Financial instruments 
 
Non-derivative financial instruments 
The Company’s non-derivative financial assets include trade and other receivables and cash and cash 
equivalents. The Company’s non-derivative financial liabilities include other financial liabilities. 
 
Initial recognition and measurement 
Trade receivables are initially recognised when they are originated. All other financial assets and 
financial liabilities are initially recognised when the Company becomes a party to the contractual 
provisions of the instrument. 
 
A financial asset (unless it is a trade receivable without a significant financing component) or financial 
liability is initially measured at fair value plus, for an item not at fair value through profit or loss, 
transaction costs that are directly attributable to its acquisition or issue. A trade receivable without a 
significant financing component is initially measured at the transaction price. 
 
Financial liabilities are classified as measured at amortised cost. 
 
Derecognition 
Financial assets are derecognised where the contractual right to receipt of cash flows expires or the 
asset is transferred to another party whereby the Company no longer has any significant continuing  
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(e) Changes in accounting policies (continued)  

AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers 

The Company has initially applied AASB 15 from 1 July 2019.  AASB 15 establishes a 
comprehensive framework for determining whether, how much and when revenue is recognised. It 
replaces AASB 118 Revenue, AASB 111 Construction Contracts and related interpretations. Under 
AASB 15, revenue is recognised when a customer obtains control of the goods or services. 
Determining the timing of the transfer of control – at a point in time or over time – requires 
judgement. 

This is the first period for which financial statements have been prepared. The impact of AASB 15 
on comparative information is not required. 

AASB 15 did not have a significant impact on the Company’s accounting policies with respect to 
revenue streams. 

AASB 1058 Income of not-for-profit entities 

The Company has initially applied AASB 1058 from 1 July 2019. 

AASB 1058 clarifies and simplifies the income recognition requirements that apply to not-for-profit 
entities, in conjunction with AASB 15. The requirements of AASB 1058 more closely reflect the 
economic reality of not-for-profit entity transactions that are not contracts with customers. The 
timing of income recognition depends on whether such a transaction give rise to a liability or other 
performance obligation.  

AASB 1058 did not have a significant impact on the Company’s accounting policies with respect to 
revenue streams. 

 
3 Significant accounting policies 

The Company has consistently applied the following accounting policies to all periods presented in the 
financial statements, except if mentioned otherwise (see also Note 2 (e)). 

 (a) Financial instruments 
 
Non-derivative financial instruments 
The Company’s non-derivative financial assets include trade and other receivables and cash and cash 
equivalents. The Company’s non-derivative financial liabilities include other financial liabilities. 
 
Initial recognition and measurement 
Trade receivables are initially recognised when they are originated. All other financial assets and 
financial liabilities are initially recognised when the Company becomes a party to the contractual 
provisions of the instrument. 
 
A financial asset (unless it is a trade receivable without a significant financing component) or financial 
liability is initially measured at fair value plus, for an item not at fair value through profit or loss, 
transaction costs that are directly attributable to its acquisition or issue. A trade receivable without a 
significant financing component is initially measured at the transaction price. 
 
Financial liabilities are classified as measured at amortised cost. 
 
Derecognition 
Financial assets are derecognised where the contractual right to receipt of cash flows expires or the 
asset is transferred to another party whereby the Company no longer has any significant continuing  
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3 Significant accounting policies (continued) 

(a) Financial instruments (continued) 
 
involvement in the risks and benefits associated with the asset. Financial liabilities are derecognised 
where the related obligations are either discharged, cancelled or expire. The difference between the 
carrying amount of the financial liability extinguished or transferred to another party and the fair value 
of the consideration paid, including non-cash assets or liabilities assumed is recognised in profit or 
loss. 
 
Financial assets  
 
On initial recognition, a financial asset is classified as measured at: amortised cost; fair value other 
comprehensive income – debt investment; fair value other comprehensive income – equity 
investment; or FVTPL. 
 
Financial assets are not reclassified subsequent to their initial recognition unless the Company 
changes its business model for managing financial assets, in which case all affected financial assets 
are reclassified on the first day of the first reporting period following the change in the business model. 
 
(i) Financial assets at amortised cost 
 
These assets are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. The 
amortised cost is reduced by impairment losses. Interest income, foreign exchange gains and losses 
and impairment are recognised in profit or loss. Any gain or loss on derecognition is recognised in 
profit or loss. 
 

 (b) Inventories 

Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value.  

(c) Intangibles  

Gaming machine entitlements 
Gaming machine entitlements have indefinite useful lives given they have no expiry date.  
 
Gaming machine entitlements are recognised at cost of acquisition. They are carried at cost less any 
accumulated impairment losses.  
 
Subsequent expenditure 
Subsequent expenditure is capitalised only when it increases the future economic benefits embodied 
in the specific asset to which it relates. All other expenditure is recognised in profit or loss as incurred. 
 
Amortisation  
Gaming machine entitlements have indefinite useful lives as they have no expiry date. Accordingly, 
such intangible assets are not amortised but are systematically tested for impairment at each reporting 
date. 
  

(d) Property, plant and equipment  

Each class of property, plant and equipment is carried at cost or fair value as indicated less, where 
applicable, any accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.  

The acquisition date of an item of property, plant or equipment is determined when the significant 
risks and rewards of ownership have transferred to the Company. This will normally take place upon 
the exchange of unconditional contracts of sale, except for purchases of commercial properties, which 
are recognised on settlement.  
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3 Significant accounting policies (continued) 

(a) Financial instruments (continued) 
 
involvement in the risks and benefits associated with the asset. Financial liabilities are derecognised 
where the related obligations are either discharged, cancelled or expire. The difference between the 
carrying amount of the financial liability extinguished or transferred to another party and the fair value 
of the consideration paid, including non-cash assets or liabilities assumed is recognised in profit or 
loss. 
 
Financial assets  
 
On initial recognition, a financial asset is classified as measured at: amortised cost; fair value other 
comprehensive income – debt investment; fair value other comprehensive income – equity 
investment; or FVTPL. 
 
Financial assets are not reclassified subsequent to their initial recognition unless the Company 
changes its business model for managing financial assets, in which case all affected financial assets 
are reclassified on the first day of the first reporting period following the change in the business model. 
 
(i) Financial assets at amortised cost 
 
These assets are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. The 
amortised cost is reduced by impairment losses. Interest income, foreign exchange gains and losses 
and impairment are recognised in profit or loss. Any gain or loss on derecognition is recognised in 
profit or loss. 
 

 (b) Inventories 

Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value.  

(c) Intangibles  

Gaming machine entitlements 
Gaming machine entitlements have indefinite useful lives given they have no expiry date.  
 
Gaming machine entitlements are recognised at cost of acquisition. They are carried at cost less any 
accumulated impairment losses.  
 
Subsequent expenditure 
Subsequent expenditure is capitalised only when it increases the future economic benefits embodied 
in the specific asset to which it relates. All other expenditure is recognised in profit or loss as incurred. 
 
Amortisation  
Gaming machine entitlements have indefinite useful lives as they have no expiry date. Accordingly, 
such intangible assets are not amortised but are systematically tested for impairment at each reporting 
date. 
  

(d) Property, plant and equipment  

Each class of property, plant and equipment is carried at cost or fair value as indicated less, where 
applicable, any accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.  

The acquisition date of an item of property, plant or equipment is determined when the significant 
risks and rewards of ownership have transferred to the Company. This will normally take place upon 
the exchange of unconditional contracts of sale, except for purchases of commercial properties, which 
are recognised on settlement.  
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3 Significant accounting policies (continued) 

  (d) Property, plant and equipment (continued) 

 
Properties held by the Company specifically designated as being for strategic purposes are classified 
as property, plant and equipment rather than investment properties, as allowed under the Accounting 
Standards notwithstanding that rental income is being earned. These properties are carried at cost 
less depreciation and impairment losses. 
 
Plant and equipment are measured on a cost basis and are therefore carried at cost less accumulated 
depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses. In the event the carrying amount of the plant 
and equipment is greater than its estimated recoverable amount, the carrying amount is written down 
immediately to its estimated recoverable amount and impairment losses recognised either in the 
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income or as a revaluation decrease if the 
impairment losses related to a revalued asset. A formal assessment of recoverable amount is made 
when impairment indicators are present (refer to Note 3(f) for details on impairment).  
 
Subsequent expenditure  
Subsequent expenditure is capitalised only when it is probable that the future economic benefits 
associated with the expenditure will flow to the Company. 
 
Depreciation 

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of property, plant and equipment less their estimated 
residual values using the straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives, and is generally 
recognised in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.  Land is not depreciated. 
Leased assets and leasehold improvements are amortised over the shorter of either the unexpired 
period of the lease or their estimated useful life.   

The estimated useful lives of property, plant and equipment for current and comparative periods are as 
follows: 

Fixed asset class Depreciation rate 

Buildings 2.5% - 20% 

Leasehold Improvements 4%-20% 

Plant and Equipment 2.5% - 50% 

Office equipment, furniture and computers 5% - 50% 

Motor vehicles 20 - 25% 

Poker machines (including conversions) 20 - 50% 
 

The asset’s residual value and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of 
each reporting period. 

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds with the carrying amount. 
These gains or losses are recognised in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income 
when the item is derecognised. When revalued assets are sold, amounts included in the revaluation 
surplus relating to that asset are transferred to retained earnings. 

   (e) Borrowing costs 

Borrowing costs are recognised in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income in the 
period in which they are incurred. 

 

Western Suburbs Leagues Club Illawarra Ltd 

Notes to the financial statements 
For the year ended 30 June 2020 

16  

3 Significant accounting policies (continued) 

  (d) Property, plant and equipment (continued) 

 
Properties held by the Company specifically designated as being for strategic purposes are classified 
as property, plant and equipment rather than investment properties, as allowed under the Accounting 
Standards notwithstanding that rental income is being earned. These properties are carried at cost 
less depreciation and impairment losses. 
 
Plant and equipment are measured on a cost basis and are therefore carried at cost less accumulated 
depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses. In the event the carrying amount of the plant 
and equipment is greater than its estimated recoverable amount, the carrying amount is written down 
immediately to its estimated recoverable amount and impairment losses recognised either in the 
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income or as a revaluation decrease if the 
impairment losses related to a revalued asset. A formal assessment of recoverable amount is made 
when impairment indicators are present (refer to Note 3(f) for details on impairment).  
 
Subsequent expenditure  
Subsequent expenditure is capitalised only when it is probable that the future economic benefits 
associated with the expenditure will flow to the Company. 
 
Depreciation 

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of property, plant and equipment less their estimated 
residual values using the straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives, and is generally 
recognised in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.  Land is not depreciated. 
Leased assets and leasehold improvements are amortised over the shorter of either the unexpired 
period of the lease or their estimated useful life.   

The estimated useful lives of property, plant and equipment for current and comparative periods are as 
follows: 

Fixed asset class Depreciation rate 

Buildings 2.5% - 20% 

Leasehold Improvements 4%-20% 

Plant and Equipment 2.5% - 50% 

Office equipment, furniture and computers 5% - 50% 

Motor vehicles 20 - 25% 

Poker machines (including conversions) 20 - 50% 
 

The asset’s residual value and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of 
each reporting period. 

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds with the carrying amount. 
These gains or losses are recognised in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income 
when the item is derecognised. When revalued assets are sold, amounts included in the revaluation 
surplus relating to that asset are transferred to retained earnings. 

   (e) Borrowing costs 

Borrowing costs are recognised in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income in the 
period in which they are incurred. 
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3 Significant accounting policies (continued) 

 (f) Impairment 

The carrying amounts of the company’s assets are reviewed at each reporting date to determine 
whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable 
amount is estimated. 

An impairment loss is recognised whenever the carrying amount of an asset or its cash-generating 
unit exceeds its recoverable amount. Impairment losses are recognised in the statement of profit or 
loss and other comprehensive income, unless an asset has previously been revalued, in which case 
the impairment loss is recognised as a reversal to the extent of that previous revaluation with any 
excess recognised through the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income. 

(i) Calculation of recoverable amount 

The recoverable amount of receivables carried at amortised cost is calculated as the present value of 
estimated future cash flows, discounted at the original effective interest rate (i.e. the effective interest 
rate computed at initial recognition of these financial assets). Receivables with a short duration are 
not discounted. 

Impairment of receivables is not recognised until objective evidence is available that a loss event has 
occurred.  Significant receivables are individually assessed for impairment.  Impairment testing of 
significant receivables that are not assessed as impaired individually is performed by placing them 
into portfolios of significant receivables with similar risk profiles and undertaking a collective 
assessment of impairment.  Non-significant receivables are not individually assessed.  Instead, 
impairment testing is performed by placing non-significant receivables in portfolios of similar risk 
profiles, based on objective evidence from historical experience adjusted for any effects of conditions 
existing at each balance date. 

The recoverable amount of other assets is the greater of their fair value less costs to sell and value in 
use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value 
using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money 
and the risks specific to the asset. For an asset that does not generate largely independent cash 
inflows, the recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating unit to which the asset 
belongs. 

 (ii) Reversals of impairment 

An impairment loss in respect of a receivable carried at amortised cost is reversed if the subsequent 
increase in recoverable amount can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment 
loss was recognised. 
 
An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed 
the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no 
impairment loss had been recognised. 

 (iii) Derecognition of financial assets and liabilities 

A financial asset is derecognised when: 

 the rights to receive cash flows have expired; 

 the Company retains the right to receive cash flows from the asset, but has assumed an obligation 
to pay them in full without material delay to a third party; or 
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3 Significant accounting policies (continued) 

 (f) Impairment 

The carrying amounts of the company’s assets are reviewed at each reporting date to determine 
whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable 
amount is estimated. 

An impairment loss is recognised whenever the carrying amount of an asset or its cash-generating 
unit exceeds its recoverable amount. Impairment losses are recognised in the statement of profit or 
loss and other comprehensive income, unless an asset has previously been revalued, in which case 
the impairment loss is recognised as a reversal to the extent of that previous revaluation with any 
excess recognised through the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income. 

(i) Calculation of recoverable amount 

The recoverable amount of receivables carried at amortised cost is calculated as the present value of 
estimated future cash flows, discounted at the original effective interest rate (i.e. the effective interest 
rate computed at initial recognition of these financial assets). Receivables with a short duration are 
not discounted. 

Impairment of receivables is not recognised until objective evidence is available that a loss event has 
occurred.  Significant receivables are individually assessed for impairment.  Impairment testing of 
significant receivables that are not assessed as impaired individually is performed by placing them 
into portfolios of significant receivables with similar risk profiles and undertaking a collective 
assessment of impairment.  Non-significant receivables are not individually assessed.  Instead, 
impairment testing is performed by placing non-significant receivables in portfolios of similar risk 
profiles, based on objective evidence from historical experience adjusted for any effects of conditions 
existing at each balance date. 

The recoverable amount of other assets is the greater of their fair value less costs to sell and value in 
use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value 
using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money 
and the risks specific to the asset. For an asset that does not generate largely independent cash 
inflows, the recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating unit to which the asset 
belongs. 

 (ii) Reversals of impairment 

An impairment loss in respect of a receivable carried at amortised cost is reversed if the subsequent 
increase in recoverable amount can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment 
loss was recognised. 
 
An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed 
the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no 
impairment loss had been recognised. 

 (iii) Derecognition of financial assets and liabilities 

A financial asset is derecognised when: 

 the rights to receive cash flows have expired; 

 the Company retains the right to receive cash flows from the asset, but has assumed an obligation 
to pay them in full without material delay to a third party; or 
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3 Significant accounting policies (continued) 

  (f) Impairment (continued) 

 the Company has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset and either (a) has 
transferred substantially all of the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) has neither transferred nor 
retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the 
asset. 

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged, cancelled or 
expired.  When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on 
substantially different terms, or the terms of the existing liability are substantially modified, such an 
exchange or modification is treated as a de-recognition of the original liability and the recognition of a 
new liability.  The difference in the respective carrying amounts is recognised in the profit and loss. 

 (g) Employee benefits 

(i)  Short term benefits 

Short-term employee benefits are expensed as the related service is provided. A liability is recognised 
for the amount expected to be paid if the Company has a present legal or constructive obligation to 
pay this amount as a result of past service provided by the employee and the obligation can be 
estimated reliably. 

(ii)  Defined contribution plans 

Obligations for contributions to defined contribution superannuation funds are expensed as the related 
service is provided. Prepaid contributions are recognised as an asset to the extent that a cash refund 
or a reduction in future payments is available. 
 
(iii)  Other long term service benefits 

The  Company’s net obligation in respect of long-term employee benefits is the amount of future 
benefit that employees have earned in return for their service in the current and prior periods. That 
benefit is discounted to determine its present value. Remeasurements are recognised in the 
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income in the period in which they arise. 

(iv)  Termination benefits 

Termination benefits are expensed at the earlier of when the Company can no longer withdraw the 
offer of those benefits and when the Company recognises costs for a restructuring. If benefits are not 
expected to be settled wholly within 12 months of the end of the reporting period, then they are 
discounted. 

(h) Revenue 

AASB 15 establishes a comprehensive framework for determining whether, how much and when 
revenue is recognised. It replaced AASB 118 Revenue, AASB 111 Construction Contracts and related 
interpretations. Under AASB 15, revenue is recognised when a customer obtains control of the goods 
or services. Determining the timing of the transfer of control – at a point in time or over time – requires 
judgement. 

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable and is presented net 
of returns, discounts and rebates. 

Goods sold and services rendered 

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised in profit or loss when a customer obtains control of the 
goods or services No revenue is recognised if there is significant uncertainty regarding recovery of 
consideration due. 
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3 Significant accounting policies (continued) 

  (f) Impairment (continued) 

 the Company has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset and either (a) has 
transferred substantially all of the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) has neither transferred nor 
retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the 
asset. 

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged, cancelled or 
expired.  When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on 
substantially different terms, or the terms of the existing liability are substantially modified, such an 
exchange or modification is treated as a de-recognition of the original liability and the recognition of a 
new liability.  The difference in the respective carrying amounts is recognised in the profit and loss. 

 (g) Employee benefits 

(i)  Short term benefits 

Short-term employee benefits are expensed as the related service is provided. A liability is recognised 
for the amount expected to be paid if the Company has a present legal or constructive obligation to 
pay this amount as a result of past service provided by the employee and the obligation can be 
estimated reliably. 

(ii)  Defined contribution plans 

Obligations for contributions to defined contribution superannuation funds are expensed as the related 
service is provided. Prepaid contributions are recognised as an asset to the extent that a cash refund 
or a reduction in future payments is available. 
 
(iii)  Other long term service benefits 

The  Company’s net obligation in respect of long-term employee benefits is the amount of future 
benefit that employees have earned in return for their service in the current and prior periods. That 
benefit is discounted to determine its present value. Remeasurements are recognised in the 
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income in the period in which they arise. 

(iv)  Termination benefits 

Termination benefits are expensed at the earlier of when the Company can no longer withdraw the 
offer of those benefits and when the Company recognises costs for a restructuring. If benefits are not 
expected to be settled wholly within 12 months of the end of the reporting period, then they are 
discounted. 

(h) Revenue 

AASB 15 establishes a comprehensive framework for determining whether, how much and when 
revenue is recognised. It replaced AASB 118 Revenue, AASB 111 Construction Contracts and related 
interpretations. Under AASB 15, revenue is recognised when a customer obtains control of the goods 
or services. Determining the timing of the transfer of control – at a point in time or over time – requires 
judgement. 

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable and is presented net 
of returns, discounts and rebates. 

Goods sold and services rendered 

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised in profit or loss when a customer obtains control of the 
goods or services No revenue is recognised if there is significant uncertainty regarding recovery of 
consideration due. 
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3 Significant accounting policies (continued) 

  (f) Impairment (continued) 

 the Company has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset and either (a) has 
transferred substantially all of the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) has neither transferred nor 
retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the 
asset. 

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged, cancelled or 
expired.  When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on 
substantially different terms, or the terms of the existing liability are substantially modified, such an 
exchange or modification is treated as a de-recognition of the original liability and the recognition of a 
new liability.  The difference in the respective carrying amounts is recognised in the profit and loss. 

 (g) Employee benefits 

(i)  Short term benefits 

Short-term employee benefits are expensed as the related service is provided. A liability is recognised 
for the amount expected to be paid if the Company has a present legal or constructive obligation to 
pay this amount as a result of past service provided by the employee and the obligation can be 
estimated reliably. 

(ii)  Defined contribution plans 

Obligations for contributions to defined contribution superannuation funds are expensed as the related 
service is provided. Prepaid contributions are recognised as an asset to the extent that a cash refund 
or a reduction in future payments is available. 
 
(iii)  Other long term service benefits 

The  Company’s net obligation in respect of long-term employee benefits is the amount of future 
benefit that employees have earned in return for their service in the current and prior periods. That 
benefit is discounted to determine its present value. Remeasurements are recognised in the 
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income in the period in which they arise. 

(iv)  Termination benefits 

Termination benefits are expensed at the earlier of when the Company can no longer withdraw the 
offer of those benefits and when the Company recognises costs for a restructuring. If benefits are not 
expected to be settled wholly within 12 months of the end of the reporting period, then they are 
discounted. 

(h) Revenue 

AASB 15 establishes a comprehensive framework for determining whether, how much and when 
revenue is recognised. It replaced AASB 118 Revenue, AASB 111 Construction Contracts and related 
interpretations. Under AASB 15, revenue is recognised when a customer obtains control of the goods 
or services. Determining the timing of the transfer of control – at a point in time or over time – requires 
judgement. 

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable and is presented net 
of returns, discounts and rebates. 

Goods sold and services rendered 

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised in profit or loss when a customer obtains control of the 
goods or services No revenue is recognised if there is significant uncertainty regarding recovery of 
consideration due. 
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3 Significant accounting policies (continued) 

  (f) Impairment (continued) 

 the Company has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset and either (a) has 
transferred substantially all of the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) has neither transferred nor 
retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the 
asset. 

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged, cancelled or 
expired.  When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on 
substantially different terms, or the terms of the existing liability are substantially modified, such an 
exchange or modification is treated as a de-recognition of the original liability and the recognition of a 
new liability.  The difference in the respective carrying amounts is recognised in the profit and loss. 

 (g) Employee benefits 

(i)  Short term benefits 

Short-term employee benefits are expensed as the related service is provided. A liability is recognised 
for the amount expected to be paid if the Company has a present legal or constructive obligation to 
pay this amount as a result of past service provided by the employee and the obligation can be 
estimated reliably. 

(ii)  Defined contribution plans 

Obligations for contributions to defined contribution superannuation funds are expensed as the related 
service is provided. Prepaid contributions are recognised as an asset to the extent that a cash refund 
or a reduction in future payments is available. 
 
(iii)  Other long term service benefits 

The  Company’s net obligation in respect of long-term employee benefits is the amount of future 
benefit that employees have earned in return for their service in the current and prior periods. That 
benefit is discounted to determine its present value. Remeasurements are recognised in the 
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income in the period in which they arise. 

(iv)  Termination benefits 

Termination benefits are expensed at the earlier of when the Company can no longer withdraw the 
offer of those benefits and when the Company recognises costs for a restructuring. If benefits are not 
expected to be settled wholly within 12 months of the end of the reporting period, then they are 
discounted. 

(h) Revenue 

AASB 15 establishes a comprehensive framework for determining whether, how much and when 
revenue is recognised. It replaced AASB 118 Revenue, AASB 111 Construction Contracts and related 
interpretations. Under AASB 15, revenue is recognised when a customer obtains control of the goods 
or services. Determining the timing of the transfer of control – at a point in time or over time – requires 
judgement. 

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable and is presented net 
of returns, discounts and rebates. 

Goods sold and services rendered 

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised in profit or loss when a customer obtains control of the 
goods or services No revenue is recognised if there is significant uncertainty regarding recovery of 
consideration due. 
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3 Significant accounting policies (continued) 

  (f) Impairment (continued) 

 the Company has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset and either (a) has 
transferred substantially all of the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) has neither transferred nor 
retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the 
asset. 

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged, cancelled or 
expired.  When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on 
substantially different terms, or the terms of the existing liability are substantially modified, such an 
exchange or modification is treated as a de-recognition of the original liability and the recognition of a 
new liability.  The difference in the respective carrying amounts is recognised in the profit and loss. 

 (g) Employee benefits 

(i)  Short term benefits 

Short-term employee benefits are expensed as the related service is provided. A liability is recognised 
for the amount expected to be paid if the Company has a present legal or constructive obligation to 
pay this amount as a result of past service provided by the employee and the obligation can be 
estimated reliably. 

(ii)  Defined contribution plans 

Obligations for contributions to defined contribution superannuation funds are expensed as the related 
service is provided. Prepaid contributions are recognised as an asset to the extent that a cash refund 
or a reduction in future payments is available. 
 
(iii)  Other long term service benefits 

The  Company’s net obligation in respect of long-term employee benefits is the amount of future 
benefit that employees have earned in return for their service in the current and prior periods. That 
benefit is discounted to determine its present value. Remeasurements are recognised in the 
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income in the period in which they arise. 

(iv)  Termination benefits 

Termination benefits are expensed at the earlier of when the Company can no longer withdraw the 
offer of those benefits and when the Company recognises costs for a restructuring. If benefits are not 
expected to be settled wholly within 12 months of the end of the reporting period, then they are 
discounted. 

(h) Revenue 

AASB 15 establishes a comprehensive framework for determining whether, how much and when 
revenue is recognised. It replaced AASB 118 Revenue, AASB 111 Construction Contracts and related 
interpretations. Under AASB 15, revenue is recognised when a customer obtains control of the goods 
or services. Determining the timing of the transfer of control – at a point in time or over time – requires 
judgement. 

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable and is presented net 
of returns, discounts and rebates. 

Goods sold and services rendered 

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised in profit or loss when a customer obtains control of the 
goods or services No revenue is recognised if there is significant uncertainty regarding recovery of 
consideration due. 
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3 Significant accounting policies (continued) 

  (f) Impairment (continued) 

 the Company has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset and either (a) has 
transferred substantially all of the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) has neither transferred nor 
retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the 
asset. 

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged, cancelled or 
expired.  When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on 
substantially different terms, or the terms of the existing liability are substantially modified, such an 
exchange or modification is treated as a de-recognition of the original liability and the recognition of a 
new liability.  The difference in the respective carrying amounts is recognised in the profit and loss. 

 (g) Employee benefits 

(i)  Short term benefits 

Short-term employee benefits are expensed as the related service is provided. A liability is recognised 
for the amount expected to be paid if the Company has a present legal or constructive obligation to 
pay this amount as a result of past service provided by the employee and the obligation can be 
estimated reliably. 

(ii)  Defined contribution plans 

Obligations for contributions to defined contribution superannuation funds are expensed as the related 
service is provided. Prepaid contributions are recognised as an asset to the extent that a cash refund 
or a reduction in future payments is available. 
 
(iii)  Other long term service benefits 

The  Company’s net obligation in respect of long-term employee benefits is the amount of future 
benefit that employees have earned in return for their service in the current and prior periods. That 
benefit is discounted to determine its present value. Remeasurements are recognised in the 
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income in the period in which they arise. 

(iv)  Termination benefits 

Termination benefits are expensed at the earlier of when the Company can no longer withdraw the 
offer of those benefits and when the Company recognises costs for a restructuring. If benefits are not 
expected to be settled wholly within 12 months of the end of the reporting period, then they are 
discounted. 

(h) Revenue 

AASB 15 establishes a comprehensive framework for determining whether, how much and when 
revenue is recognised. It replaced AASB 118 Revenue, AASB 111 Construction Contracts and related 
interpretations. Under AASB 15, revenue is recognised when a customer obtains control of the goods 
or services. Determining the timing of the transfer of control – at a point in time or over time – requires 
judgement. 

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable and is presented net 
of returns, discounts and rebates. 

Goods sold and services rendered 

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised in profit or loss when a customer obtains control of the 
goods or services No revenue is recognised if there is significant uncertainty regarding recovery of 
consideration due. 
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3 Significant accounting policies (continued) 

  (f) Impairment (continued) 

 the Company has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset and either (a) has 
transferred substantially all of the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) has neither transferred nor 
retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the 
asset. 

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged, cancelled or 
expired.  When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on 
substantially different terms, or the terms of the existing liability are substantially modified, such an 
exchange or modification is treated as a de-recognition of the original liability and the recognition of a 
new liability.  The difference in the respective carrying amounts is recognised in the profit and loss. 

 (g) Employee benefits 

(i)  Short term benefits 

Short-term employee benefits are expensed as the related service is provided. A liability is recognised 
for the amount expected to be paid if the Company has a present legal or constructive obligation to 
pay this amount as a result of past service provided by the employee and the obligation can be 
estimated reliably. 

(ii)  Defined contribution plans 

Obligations for contributions to defined contribution superannuation funds are expensed as the related 
service is provided. Prepaid contributions are recognised as an asset to the extent that a cash refund 
or a reduction in future payments is available. 
 
(iii)  Other long term service benefits 

The  Company’s net obligation in respect of long-term employee benefits is the amount of future 
benefit that employees have earned in return for their service in the current and prior periods. That 
benefit is discounted to determine its present value. Remeasurements are recognised in the 
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income in the period in which they arise. 

(iv)  Termination benefits 

Termination benefits are expensed at the earlier of when the Company can no longer withdraw the 
offer of those benefits and when the Company recognises costs for a restructuring. If benefits are not 
expected to be settled wholly within 12 months of the end of the reporting period, then they are 
discounted. 

(h) Revenue 

AASB 15 establishes a comprehensive framework for determining whether, how much and when 
revenue is recognised. It replaced AASB 118 Revenue, AASB 111 Construction Contracts and related 
interpretations. Under AASB 15, revenue is recognised when a customer obtains control of the goods 
or services. Determining the timing of the transfer of control – at a point in time or over time – requires 
judgement. 

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable and is presented net 
of returns, discounts and rebates. 

Goods sold and services rendered 

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised in profit or loss when a customer obtains control of the 
goods or services No revenue is recognised if there is significant uncertainty regarding recovery of 
consideration due. 
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3 Significant accounting policies (continued) 

  (f) Impairment (continued) 

 the Company has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset and either (a) has 
transferred substantially all of the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) has neither transferred nor 
retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the 
asset. 

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged, cancelled or 
expired.  When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on 
substantially different terms, or the terms of the existing liability are substantially modified, such an 
exchange or modification is treated as a de-recognition of the original liability and the recognition of a 
new liability.  The difference in the respective carrying amounts is recognised in the profit and loss. 

 (g) Employee benefits 

(i)  Short term benefits 

Short-term employee benefits are expensed as the related service is provided. A liability is recognised 
for the amount expected to be paid if the Company has a present legal or constructive obligation to 
pay this amount as a result of past service provided by the employee and the obligation can be 
estimated reliably. 

(ii)  Defined contribution plans 

Obligations for contributions to defined contribution superannuation funds are expensed as the related 
service is provided. Prepaid contributions are recognised as an asset to the extent that a cash refund 
or a reduction in future payments is available. 
 
(iii)  Other long term service benefits 

The  Company’s net obligation in respect of long-term employee benefits is the amount of future 
benefit that employees have earned in return for their service in the current and prior periods. That 
benefit is discounted to determine its present value. Remeasurements are recognised in the 
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income in the period in which they arise. 

(iv)  Termination benefits 

Termination benefits are expensed at the earlier of when the Company can no longer withdraw the 
offer of those benefits and when the Company recognises costs for a restructuring. If benefits are not 
expected to be settled wholly within 12 months of the end of the reporting period, then they are 
discounted. 

(h) Revenue 

AASB 15 establishes a comprehensive framework for determining whether, how much and when 
revenue is recognised. It replaced AASB 118 Revenue, AASB 111 Construction Contracts and related 
interpretations. Under AASB 15, revenue is recognised when a customer obtains control of the goods 
or services. Determining the timing of the transfer of control – at a point in time or over time – requires 
judgement. 

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable and is presented net 
of returns, discounts and rebates. 

Goods sold and services rendered 

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised in profit or loss when a customer obtains control of the 
goods or services No revenue is recognised if there is significant uncertainty regarding recovery of 
consideration due. 
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3  Significant accounting policies (continued) 
(h) Revenue (continued) 

Subscriptions 

Revenue from the provision of membership subscriptions is recognised over the period in which the 
underlying subscription pertains to. 

 All revenue is stated net of the amount of goods and services tax (GST). 

Poker machine revenue 

Poker machine revenue is recognised in profit loss, net of prizes and jackpots, once the underlying 
games have been completed. 

Other gaming revenue 

Other gaming revenue is recognised in profit or loss when the underlying gaming event has been 
completed. 

 (i) Taxation 

Income tax 

The Income Tax Assessment Act 1997 (amended) provides that under the concept of mutuality, clubs 
are only liable for income tax on income derived from non-members and from outside entities. Current 
tax assets and liabilities for the current period are measured at the amount expected to be recovered 
from or paid to the taxation authorities based on the current period’s taxable income. The tax rates and 
tax laws used to compute the amount are those that are enacted or substantively enacted by the 
reporting date. 
 
Deferred tax 

Deferred tax is provided using the liability method on temporary differences between the tax bases 
of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes at the reporting 
date. 

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences, except: 

 when the deferred income tax liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or an asset or 
liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, 
affects neither the accounting profit  nor taxable profit or loss; 

 in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiary, associates 
and interests in joint arrangements, when the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences 
can be controlled and it is probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in the 
foreseeable future. 
 

        Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, the carry forward of 
unused tax credits and any unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that 
it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible temporary differences, 
and the carry forward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilised, except 
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3  Significant accounting policies (continued) 
(i) Taxation (continued) 

 when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible temporary difference arises from the initial 
recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the 
time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; 

 in respect of deductible temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiary, 
associates and interests in joint arrangements, deferred tax assets are recognised only to the 
extent that it is probable that the temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable future and 
taxable profit will be available against which the temporary differences can be utilised. 

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date and reduced to the 
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of 
the deferred tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are re-assessed at each 
reporting date and are recognised to the extent that it has become probable that future taxable profits 
will allow the deferred tax asset to be recovered. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the year 
when the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been 
enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date. 

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if a legally enforceable right exists to set off 
current tax assets against current tax liabilities and the deferred taxes relate to the same taxable entity 
and the same taxation authority. 
 
In determining tax balances, the Waratah’s formula applicable to registered licensed clubs is used. 

 
(j) Goods and services tax 

Revenue, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of goods and services tax (GST), 
except where the amount of GST incurred is not recoverable from the ATO. In these circumstances, 
the GST is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of the expense. 

Receivables and payables are stated with the amount of GST included.  The net amount of GST 
recoverable from, or payable to, the ATO is included as a current asset or liability in the balance sheet. 

Cash flows are included in the statement of cash flows on a gross basis. The GST components of 
cash flows arising from investing and financing activities which are recoverable from, or payable to, 
the ATO are classified as operating cash flows. 

(k) Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents comprises cash on hand, demand deposits and short-term investments 
which are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk 
of change in value. 
 

  (l) Comparative figures  

When required by Accounting Standards, comparative figures have been adjusted to conform to 
changes in presentation for the current financial year.   
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4 Going concern 

Notwithstanding the Company’s loss for the financial year of $1,470,376 (2019: loss $600,207) and  
deficiency in current net assets of $3,359,833 at 30 June 2020 (30 June 2019: deficiency of 
$2,720,671), the financial report has been prepared on the going concern basis.  This basis has been 
adopted as the Company has consistently traded on low current asset ratios, through the ongoing 
capacity and support of the Company’s bankers (refer note 16) and the ability to consistently generate 
strong operating cash flows (2020: $3,842,255 and 2019: $2,867,131) to support the investing 
activities of the Club and the retirement of debt.  The Directors are of the belief that such financial 
support will continue to be made available for a period of at least 12 months from the date this financial 
report is signed. 

  

                                                                           Note 2020  2019 

 $  $ 

5 Revenue              

Sales revenue      
Bar sales 2,046,018  2,414,102   
Catering income 1,975,177  2,111,346   
Gaming machine revenue 14,403,929  16,938,805   
Commissions – Keno and TAB 236,014  299,642   
 18,661,138  21,763,895   
Other revenue      
Raffles 438,117  552,906   
Membership subscriptions 472,080  499,701   
Golf course revenue 935,284  1,052,148   
Interest 671  905   
Jobkeeper funding 930,000  -   
Other revenue 389,430  408,782   
 3,165,582  2,514,442   
Total revenue 21,826,720  24,278,337   
Other income      
Profit on sale of intangibles -  260,000   
Profit on sale of property, plant and equipment 6,770  550,880   
Total other income 6,770  810, 880   
Total revenue and other income 21,833,490  25,089,217   
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6 Results for the Year 

The statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income presents the expenses based on 
function for the Company, below are the expenses by nature that are attributable to the Company 
excluding other expenses: 
 

    2020    2019 

    $     $ 

Depreciation and amortisation 3,840,050  4,001,555   
Cost of sales 1,652,369  1,830,134   
Interest expense on financial liabilities 131,384  120,147   
Employee benefits expense 6,875,076  7,177,335   
Superannuation contributions 536,748  611,754   
Rental expense on operating leases 
   minimum lease payments 

         -  44,573   

  
7 Tax Expense 

      

Tax expense   -   -   
 
Reconciliation  

     

 
Accounting (loss)/ profit before tax (1,470,376)  (600,207)   
      
 
Income tax using statutory income tax rate 27.5% 

 
(404,354) 

  
(165,057) 

  

Add:      
Tax effect of:      
-  impairment expenses not deductible -  -   
-  other non-allowable items 6,317  58,302   
-  deductible expenses (10,490)  (15,299)   
-  non-deductible member only expenses 255,921  278,296   
 (152,606)  156,242   
Less:      
Tax effect of:      
- non-taxable member income arising from principle 
of mutuality 

 
(59,469) 

  
(147,686) 

  

- tax losses (utilised)/incurred but not recognised 212,075  (8,556)   
 -  -   
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  8 Unrecognised deferred tax assets 

    2020    2019 

    $     $ 

Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of the following: 
- revenue losses 415,749  238,697 
- temporary differences 818,505  551,301 
 1,234,254  789,998 

 
Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of these items because it is not probable 
that future taxable profit will be available against which the Company can utilise the benefits therein, 
noting that the Company does not pay tax on income subject to the principle of mutuality. 
 
 

9 Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash on hand 482,900  513,000  
Cash at bank 1,095,448  970,750  
 1,578,348  1,483,750  

 

10 Trade and other receivables 

Other receivables  322,618  12,851   
Deposits 26,019  68,642   
 348,637  81,493   

 

11 Inventories 

Inventories - bar  82,378  93,521   

Inventories – catering 30,688  51,943   

Inventories – other 62,820  42,936   

 175,886  188,400   
 

12 Other assets 

Prepayments  335,401              301,023   

Total  335,401  301,023   
 

13 Intangible Assets 

      

Gaming machine entitlements      

Balance at 1 July 1,725,227  2,505,227   

Disposals during the year -  (780,000)   

  1,725,227  1,725,227  
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 2020  2019  

 $  $  

14 Property, plant and equipment 

 

Freehold Land and Buildings      
At cost  39,236,431  39,140,129  
Capital WIP – at cost  421,784  295,563  
Accumulated depreciation  (12,688,486)  (10,962,048)  
Provision for impairment  (433,654)  (109,805)  
  26,536,075  28,363,839  
      
Leasehold Improvements      
At cost   731,909  731,909  
Accumulated depreciation  (500,408)  (482,794)  
  231,501  249,115  
      
Plant and Equipment      
At cost  5,451,675  5,076,607  
Accumulated depreciation  (3,495,256)  (2,916,361)  
  1,956,419  2,160,246  
      
Motor Vehicles      
At cost   150,854  150,854  
Accumulated depreciation  (146,956)  (138,005)  
  3,898  12,849  
      
Office Equipment, Furniture and Computers     
At cost   1,455,477  1,376,129  
Accumulated depreciation  (1,083,234)  (964,589)  
  372,243  411,540  
 
Poker Machines 

    

At cost   9,472,029  9,306,667 
Accumulated depreciation  (7,490,886)  (6,239,555) 
  1,981,143  3,067,112 
Total Property, Plant and Equipment 31,081,279  34,264,701 
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14 Property, plant and equipment (continued) 

(a) Reconciliation 

Reconciliation of the carrying amounts for each class of property, plant and equipment are set out below: 

 
 

(b) Core and Non-Core Property 

As required under section 41J of the Registered Clubs Act 1976, the Club is required to specify the core 
property and non-core properties owned and occupied as at the end of the financial year. Accordingly, the 
Board considers as core property the licensed premises from which the Club operates at Hargreaves Street 
Unanderra and Golf Place Primbee, including all freehold land referred to in the title deeds of the main 
licensed premises sites (predominantly the car parking area). 
 
 
(c) Land and Building Valuation 

An independent valuation of all properties was sought in respect of 30 June 2020 financial year-end. 

These revaluations indicated that, with the exception of the Port Kembla Golf Club (PKGC), the fair values of 
all properties held at balance date for financial reporting purposes was in excess of their written down values.  

The building assets at PKGC were assessed as being $323,849 lower than their written down value, and 
accordingly an equivalent impairment provision has been recognised. 

 

        

 

Land & 
Buildings 

Leasehold 
Improve-

ments 

Plant & 
Equipment 

Office 
Equipment, 
Furniture & 
Computers 

Motor 
Vehicles 

Poker 
Machines 

Total 

 $ $ $ $ $ $ $ 
Balance at 1 July 2019 28,363,839 249,115 2,160,246 411,540 12,849 3,067,112 34,264,701 
Additions 222,523  -        375,468 101,336  -        315,478 1,014,805 
Disposals -         -        (399) (21,988)  -        (11,940) (34,327) 
Impairment (323,849) -        -       -       -        -        (323,849) 
Depreciation and 
amortisation expense 

(1,726,438) (17,614) (578,896) (118,645) (8,951) (1,389,507) (3,840,051) 

Balance at 30 June 
2020 

26,536,075 231,501 1,956,419 372,243 3,898 1,981,143 31,081,279 
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14 Property, plant and equipment (continued) 

(a) Reconciliation 

Reconciliation of the carrying amounts for each class of property, plant and equipment are set out below: 
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14 Property, plant and equipment (continued) 

(a) Reconciliation 

Reconciliation of the carrying amounts for each class of property, plant and equipment are set out below: 

 
 

(b) Core and Non-Core Property 
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The building assets at PKGC were assessed as being $323,849 lower than their written down value, and 
accordingly an equivalent impairment provision has been recognised. 
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 2020 
 

 2019 
 

 $  $ 
 

15 Trade and other payables 

Trade payables  3,746,729  2,429,674   
 3,746,729  2,429,674   

 

16 Loans and Borrowings  

  Financing arrangements 

Current       

Secured liabilities:       
Bank overdraft (a) -  -  
Commercials bills (a) -  -  
Finance lease liability (b) 775,921  1,281,517  
Other borrowings 241,212  151,502  
Total current loans and borrowings 1,017,133  1,433,019 
Non-Current     
Secured liabilities:    
Commercials bills (a) 12,580  2,082,468 
Finance lease liability (b) 827,609  1,115,785 
Total non-current loans and borrowings 840,189  3,198,253 
 

 

a) The commercial bill facility, with a limit of $2,900,000 at 30 June 2020, is secured by: 
• A registered mortgage over the Company’s Unanderra property.  
This property has a carrying amount of approximately $23M as at balance date. 
• A Deed of Undertaking by the Company over licenced premises.  
• A fixed and floating charge given over all assets of the Company, with the exception of those 
assets at Note (b) below. 
• This commercial bill is non-current interest only and is due for a roll over in August 2020. 
 

b) These liabilities are secured by the assets subject to the finance lease agreements. In addition, 
those facilities financed by the Company’s bankers are secured as per Note (a) above.  
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

Western Suburbs Leagues Club Illawarra Ltd 

Notes to the financial statements 
For the year ended 30 June 2020 

26  

 2020 
 

 2019 
 

 $  $ 
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17 Employee benefits 

Current       
Employee entitlements  1,034,243  912,644  
  1,034,243  912,644  
Non-Current      
Employee entitlements  243,335  237,479  
  243,335  237,479  

 

18 Commitments  

(a) Finance Leases 

At 30 June, the future minimum lease payments are payable as follows: 

 
 Not later than one year  775,921  1,282,952 
 One year or later but no later than five years  827,608  1,112,640 
  1,603,529  2,395,591 
     

 

(b) Operating Leases 

At 30 June, the future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable leases are as follows 

 
 Not later than one year  -  - 
 One year or later but no later than five years  -  7,487 
  -  7,487 
     

 

Operating leases are for various contracts associated with the ongoing Club operations and property 
leases. 

(c) Capital Expenditure Commitments 

At 30 June there were no capital expenditure commitments.  

 

 

 

 

 

  2020  2019 

  $  $ 
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19 Related party Transactions 

Key management personnel compensation 

Key management personnel are those persons having authority and responsibility for planning 
directing and controlling the activities of the Company, directly or indirectly, including any director of 
the Company. Directors of the Company receive no remuneration or other benefits in respect of their 
role as directors. Total remuneration paid to key management personnel (2020: 7 employees, 2019: 
7 employees)  for the current and comparative periods was:  

Key management personnel compensation  1,206,086  1,226,675 
     

Transactions between related parties are on normal commercial terms and conditions no more 
favourable than those available to other parties unless otherwise stated. 

(a) A close family member of one of the Company's Key Management Personnel is employed under 
the relevant industrial award and is subject to the terms and conditions applicable to all employees of 
the Company. 

(b) Key Management Personnel are provided with and/or reimbursed for meals, drinks and other 
expenses incurred in the course of undertaking the Company’s business. These costs are not 
considered to be remuneration and hence have not been included in this disclosure.                                                                        

21 Subsequent events 

There are no matters or circumstances that have arisen since the end of the financial year which 
significantly affected or may significantly affect the operations of the Company, the results of those 
operations, or the state of affairs of the Company. 
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Western Suburbs Leagues Club Illawarra Ltd 
Directors’ declaration 

 

1. In the opinion of the directors of Western Suburbs Leagues Club Illawarra Ltd (‘the Company’): 

a) the financial statements and notes, set out on pages 8 to 28, are in accordance with the 
Corporations Act 2001, including: 

- giving a true and fair view of the Company’s financial position as at 30 June 2020 and of 
its performance, for the financial year ended on that date; and 

- complying with Australian Accounting Standards – Reduced Disclosure Regime and the 
Corporations Regulations 2001; and 

b) there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts as 
and when they become due and payable. 

 

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the directors: 

Dated at Wollongong this 30th day of September 2020.  

 

 

  

Trevor Castle 
Chairman 

 

 

 
 

 

25 to 45,
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Liability limited by a scheme approved under 
Professional Standards Legislation.

KPMG, an Australian partnership and a member firm of the KPMG 
network of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG 
International Cooperative (“KPMG International”), a Swiss entity.

Lead Auditor’s Independence Declaration under 

Section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001 

To the Directors of Western Suburbs Leagues Club Illawarra Ltd 

I declare that, to the best of my knowledge and belief, in relation to the audit of Western Suburbs Leagues 
Club Illawarra Ltd for the financial year ended 30 June 2020 there have been: 

i. no contraventions of the auditor independence requirements as set out in the
Corporations Act 2001 in relation to the audit; and

ii. no contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit.

KPMG Warwick Shanks Partner 

Wollongong 

30 September 2020 
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Independent Auditor’s Report 
 

 

To the Members of Western Suburbs Leagues Club Illawarra Ltd 

 

Opinions 

We have audited the Financial Report of 
Western Suburbs Leagues Club Illawarra 
Ltd (the Company).  

In our opinion, the accompanying 
Financial Report of the Company is in 
accordance with the Corporations Act 
2001, including: 

• giving a true and fair view of the 
Company's financial position as at 30 
June 2020 and of its financial 
performance for the year ended on that 
date; and 

• complying with Australian Accounting 
Standards - Reduced Disclosure 
Requirements and the Corporations 
Regulations 2001. 

 

The respective Financial Report of the Company comprises: 

• Statement of financial position as at 30 June 2020 

• Statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive 
income, Statement of changes in equity, and Statement of 
cash flows for the year then ended 

• Notes including a summary of significant accounting 
policies  

• Directors' Declaration. 

 

Basis for opinions 

We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. We believe that the audit 
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinions. 

Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the 
audits of the Financial Report section of our report. 

We are independent of the Company in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001 and the ethical 
requirements of the Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 Code of Ethics for 
Professional Accountants (the Code) that are relevant to our audit of the Financial Report in Australia. We 
have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. 

Other Information 

Other Information is financial and non-financial information in Western Suburbs Leagues Club Illawarra 
Ltd’s annual reporting which is provided in addition to the Financial Report and the Auditor’s Report. The 
Directors are responsible for the Other Information. 

The Other Information we obtained prior to the date of this Auditor’s Report was the Director’s Report. 

Our opinion on the Financial Report do not cover the Other Information and, accordingly, we do not 
express an audit opinion or any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 
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In connection with our audit of the Financial Report, our responsibility is to read the Other Information. In 
doing so, we consider whether the Other Information is materially inconsistent with the Financial Report or 
our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. 

We are required to report if we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this Other Information, 
and based on the work we have performed on the Other Information that we obtained prior to the date of 
this Auditor’s Report we have nothing to report. 

Responsibilities of the Directors for the Financial Reports 

The Directors are responsible for: 

• preparing Financial Report that give a true and fair view in accordance with Australian Accounting
Standards - Reduced Disclosure Requirements and the Corporations Act 2001

• implementing necessary internal control to enable the preparation of Financial Report that give a true and
fair view and are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error

• assessing the Company's ability to continue as a going concern and whether the use of the going
concern basis of accounting is appropriate. This includes disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless they either intend to liquidate the
Company or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audits of the Financial Reports 

Our objective is:  

• to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the Financial Report as a whole is free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; and

• to issue an Auditor’s Report that includes our opinions.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in 
accordance with Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 

Misstatements can arise from fraud or error. They are considered material if, individually or in the 
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the 
basis of the Financial Report. 

A further description of our responsibilities for the audits of the Financial Reports is located at the Auditing 
and Assurance Standards Board website at: http://www.auasb.gov.au/auditors_responsibilities/ar4.pdf. 
This description forms part of our Auditor’s Report. 

KPMG Warwick Shanks 

Partner 

Wollongong 

30 September 2020
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